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CORPORATE 
profile

Kingston Properties Limited (KPREIT) 
is the premier publicly traded real 
estate investment company listed on 

the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE). Kingston 
Properties Limited specializes in value-add 
commercial property investments in the office, 
industrial, multi-family, and mixed-use space with 
properties in Jamaica, The Cayman Islands and 
The United States of America. Our tenants are 

a mix of residential clients and medium to large-sized 
companies across industries with local, regional, 

and international operations. Headquartered 
in Kingston, Jamaica, the company began 

operations in 2008 during the period 
known as the Great Recession. Formerly 

known as Carlton Savannah REIT 
(Jamaica) Limited, the Company 

changed its name to Kingston 
Properties Limited (JSE Symbol: 
KPREIT) in October 2009. 

The primary objective of the 
Company is to create and 

constantly grow shareholder 
returns through a diversified 
property portfolio that 
generates above-average net 

income yields and higher asset 
values at disposal and distribute those 

gains through consistent and stable dividends. 

THE COMPANY HAS FIVE WHOLLY-OWNED 
SUBSIDIARIES: 

i) Kingston Properties (St. Lucia) Limited, incorporated 
    in St. Lucia under the International Business 

Companies Act; and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
Kingston Properties Miami LLC, incorporated in 
Florida under the Florida Limited Liability 
Company Act. 

ii)  KP (REIT) Jamaica Limited, incorporated in Jamaica    
      under the Companies Act. 

iii) KP Dumfries Limited, incorporated in Jamaica on 
      February 16, 2021 under the Companies Act. 

iv) On December 29, 2021 KPREIT (St. Lucia) Limited 
      was incorporated in St. Lucia but did not 
      commence operation until January 2022. 

The Group owns properties in Jamaica, 
the Cayman Islands and the United States 
of America as set out in the Property Port-
folio on page 47.  

From its outset, the Board and Management 
adopted the tenets of a real estate 
investment trust (REIT) and, although the 
Company has, over the years, lobbied 
for the enactment of REIT legislation in 
Jamaica, this has not been a reality. It has, 
however, continued to embrace global 
best practices in the management of the 
Company, adopting a dividend policy of 
up to 90% of Funds From Operations (FFO) 
and continues to be cutting edge in the 
operations of the company to consistently 
create shareholder value. 

Our “Buy Local, Own Global” motto 
encapsulates our view that various types 
of shareholders, even those with limited 
funds, can access a geographically 
diversified real estate portfolio that 
generates sustained cash flows. 
Shareholders do not have to purchase 
property directly to receive the financial 
benefits from that investment in real estate 
outside the shores of Jamaica.

MISSION

vision 

Our Mission is to generate extraordinary returns for our
shareholders through the acquisition, development, 
leasing and management of real estate, executed by 
our talented, committed team, in a socially and 
environmentally responsible way.

To be readily recognized as the pioneering REIT in the
Caribbean known for creating exceptional and sustainable 
value for our stakeholders.

CORE VALUES 
• INTEGRITY: Our word is our bond.

• ACCOUNTABILITY: We take responsibility for our 
   actions and results; we place the interests of our 
   stakeholders first.

• RESULTS-DRIVEN: We are focused on achieving 
   success; we pursue excellence in everything we do.

• INNOVATION: We find new and better ways to solve 
   problems and achieve results; we stretch beyond our 
   perceived abilities to attain success.



WHOLLY
100%

OWNED
KP (REIT) 
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GROUP STRUCTURE
CORPORATE 
OBJECTIVE
CORPORATE 
OBJECTIVE
The primary corporate objective of the 

Kingston Properties Limited Group 
continues to be to increase shareholder 

value through the ownership and management 
of real estate that will generate sustainable long-
term dividends. 

The core areas of focus are:
A. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT 
B. PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
C. BUSINESS STRATEGY

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

We continue to adopt and implement nimble 
investment strategies to satisfy our target returns 
while balancing the overall risk of the portfolio. 
Diversification of the portfolio of assets to 
minimize the impact of country and sector risk is 

a tool used to boost returns and tax efficiency risk.
Various factors determine asset selection and retention, 
including:

1. Properties with strong, consistent cash flows;
2. Properties located in markets with sound 
     fundamentals; and,
3. Tenants with strong credit histories.

Our process of property selection incorporates rent 
comparisons among various properties, trends in capitalization 
rates for the market and the asset sub-class, as well as the 
potential for net operating income growth and historical 
sales comparisons. The Company makes use of various data 
sources that provide updated trends and forecasts for factors 
such as market rents and rents per square foot (“p.s.f.”), 
vacancies, closed sales and prices p.s.f. as well as inventory 
for different property types including apartments, office, retail 
and industrial properties.

Part of the process of determining asset retention is valuation 
modelling, which involves analyzing cash flows of the individual 
properties with attention to the important assumptions such as 
rent growth, the level of vacancy that could be experienced, 
operating expenses for items such as insurance, taxes, repair 
and maintenance, as well as property management fees and 
funding costs.

Our deal structuring process involves the analysis 
of the most efficient and return-enhancing way 
to finance the acquisition and retention of our 
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respective properties. The Company has and 
continues to use a variety of options including 
issuing common equity as well as debt and quasi-
debt facilities. The capacity of each deal’s cash 
flows to service both operating expenses and 
financing obligations is considered to minimize 
financing risk.

In addition, we conduct a Total Return Analysis 
in respect of each property. Total Return Analysis 
takes into consideration the likely capital 
appreciation prospects for the property and 
is influenced by the macro economic trends of 
the location of the property. For example, for 
an apartment building, the important variables 
include macro trends in the job market.

Finally, Deal Review and Final Approval is 
an important component of the investment 
management process. The Investment 
Committee reviews each deal taking into 
consideration the impact on the Company’s 
financial and prudential ratios. The Committee, 
only when satisfied, makes recommendations to 
the Board for final approval.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Property Management process is a key component in 
our mission to create and maintain shareholder wealth. This 
involves the engagement of a team with overall responsibility 
for lease administration and oversight as well as day to day 
property management activities of the Company’s portfolio. 

The administration of leases involves rental negotiations and 
collections, common area maintenance and fee collection and 
management of rent and maintenance escrow accounts. The 
team also engages in insurance negotiations and payments, 
property tax compliance and liaison with maintenance and 
service crews to ensure proper upkeep of our properties. 
This team oversees the marketing function, ensuring that our 
properties are leased at optimal rents and occupancy levels to 
meet the financial targets of the portfolio.

Active management of the properties is a hallmark in 
maintaining good tenant relations to ensure consistent and 
stable cash flows. The Company utilizes a combination of 
internal and external professionals to ensure properties remain 
competitive in terms of rental rates and physical condition 
and that property data is collected and analyzed for trends to 
maintain tenant satisfaction at an optimal level.

For data collection and analysis, the Company uses industry 
software Rent Manager - a residential and commercial 
property management solution designed specifically to help 
real estate professionals work more efficiently and effectively. 
Rent Manager includes a completely integrated accounting 
system that offers General Ledger, Accounts Payable, Accounts 
Receivable, Budgeting, and Financial Reports that integrate 
seamlessly with a property management software system. For 
our multi-tenant residential properties in Florida, efficient rent 
collection and processing are a priority. The PayLease software 
allows for electronic rent collection and is a very cost-effective 
way to ensure timely collection thus avoiding delays in rent 
payments.
 
Management of our residential property portfolio involves 
us consistently screening prospective tenants. The software, 

Advantage Tenant is a screening tool that utilizes 
US nationwide data that helps us to fast track 
our approval process, an important competitive 
edge in a fast-paced rental market. 

Property Management also involves control 
of repair and maintenance expenses while 
ensuring the highest level of tenant relations. 

Property Management for our commercial 
portfolio involves the use of a referral system 
to do background checks on prospective 
tenants along with various tools including the 
presentation of financials, certificates of good 
standing and identification of the principals 
involved in the companies.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

A critical focus of our business strategy is to 
ensure that we operate at optimal levels of 
efficiency and profitability. We achieve this by 
increasing the amount of revenue generated 
for each dollar of cost. We maintain a relatively 
low fixed-cost model in our operations which 
satisfies our mission of increasing shareholder 
value.

Nimble Strategy
We adopt a fairly nimble business strategy that allows us to 
make portfolio shifts to take advantage of market strengths 
and opportunities. This allows us to consistently create value 
for our shareholders.

Acquisition Strategy
We pursue a focused acquisition strategy geared at acquiring 
discounted properties with above-average yields supported 
by detailed research and analysis of markets, valuation 
comparables and cash flow models. In the same vein, we 
employ prudent capital and risk management strategies for 
optimal risk-adjusted returns.

Efficient Fundraising
We make optimal use of the capital markets to raise debt, 
quasi-debt and equity financing to grow the portfolio. This 
would include but is not limited to bank financing, common 
and preferred stock, as well as other financing structures.

Shared Risk
We adopt a model that allows us to share the risk of deals 
through partnerships and joint-venture opportunities. This 
facilitates participation in larger sized deals while minimizing 
risk.

Capacity Building
We maintain a continued focus on building capacity in the 
organization through developing networks of real estate 
professionals, not just in sourcing properties, but in the 
management of them. This also extends to building capacity 
in the area for the structuring of deals in overseas markets, 
developing capacity and identifying training programmes to 
better equip the team in fulfilling our mission.

CORPORATE OBJECTIVE. CONT’D CORPORATE OBJECTIVE. CONT’D
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GENERAL MEETING
Notice of the 14th Annual

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 14th Annual 
General Meeting of KINGSTON PROPERTIES 
LIMITED will be held at the Terra Nova All Suite 
Hotel, 17 Waterloo Road, Kingston 10 in the 
parish of St Andrew in Jamaica on 28th  June, 
2022 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS 

1.  To Receive the Audited Accounts for the 
year ended December 31, 2021 and the 
Reports of the Directors and Auditors. 

The Company is asked to consider and if 
thought fit, pass the following Resolution:
 

Resolution 1: “THAT the Audited Accounts 
for the Year Ended December 31, 2021 
along with the reports of Directors and 
Auditors, circulated with notice convening 
the meeting, be and are hereby adopted.”  

2.  To Declare Final Dividend 
              

The Company is asked to consider and if 
thought fit, pass the following Resolution:

 
Resolution 2: “THAT the interim dividend 
of US$0.000664 per share paid on March 
11, 2021 and US$0.000664 per share 
paid on August 23, 2021, be and is hereby 
declared as final for the year ended 
December 31, 2021”.   

3.   To Elect Directors

(a) The Directors retiring by rotation in accordance with 
Article 107 of the Company’s Article of Incorporation 
are Mr. Peter Reid and Mrs. Lisa Gomes who being 
eligible for re-election offer themselves for re-
election.      

    
The Company is asked to consider and if thought fit, 
pass the following Resolutions: 
 
Resolution 3: “THAT Peter Reid retiring by rotation, 
be and is hereby re-elected.”

Resolution 4: “THAT Lisa Gomes retiring by rotation, 
be and is hereby re-elected.”

 
4.  To Appoint the Auditors and Fix their Remuneration

               
The Company is asked to consider and if thought fit, 
pass the following Resolution:
 
Resolution 5: “THAT KPMG having signified their 
willingness to continue in office as Auditors, the 
Directors be and are hereby authorized to agree to 
their remuneration in respect of the period ending with 
the next Annual General Meeting.”

 
SPECIAL BUSINESS

5.  To Amend the Articles of Incorporation by Special 
      Resolution

The Company is asked to consider and, if thought fit, 
pass the following Resolutions:- 

Resolution 6:

“THAT pursuant to section 10 of 
the Companies Act, the Articles of 
Incorporation of the Company be altered 
by inserting after “director” in Article 1, 
the following definition:

“Electronic Means” shall include 
technology utilized by multipurpose 
devices, scanning devices, mobile 
devices, computers or other automated 
or photographic devices, as well 
as webcasting, teleconferencing, 
videoconferencing, live stream or 
broadcast or a combination of these.”

Resolution 7:

“THAT pursuant to section 10 of 
the Companies Act, the Articles of 
Incorporation of the Company be altered 
by inserting after Article 56, the following 
Article to be numbered 56A:

“56A.
(1) Subject to the approval of a simple 
majority of the Directors and in so far as 
permitted by law, the Company may in lieu 
of holding a physical meeting, convene 
and hold a meeting of its members as a:

(a) hybrid meeting; or

(b) virtual meeting,

and shall be so identified in the notice 
convening such a meeting.

(2) For the purpose of these Articles:

(a) a “hybrid meeting” means a meeting held at one 
or more physical venue, as well as virtually, using 
any technology that gives members and Directors 
not physically in attendance at any of the venue a 
reasonable opportunity to attend and participate by 
Electronic Means; and

(b)  a “virtual meeting” means a meeting held at no 
physical venue that gives members and Directors, 
the reasonable opportunity to attend and participate 
by Electronic Means; and

(3) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these 
Articles, the notice of a virtual meeting need not 
specify a place as a physical location but shall 
include an electronic or virtual location or details 
sufficient to facilitate the attendance by members at 
an electronic or virtual location and such a meeting 
shall be recorded as held in Jamaica. The notice of 
a hybrid meeting shall specify a physical location as 
well as  an electronic or virtual location.

(4) If the Company holds a hybrid meeting it shall have 
power to limit the number of persons in attendance 
at any physical venue to such number as is 
reasonable in all the circumstances.

(5) Where the Company holds a hybrid meeting or a 
virtual meeting, the use of Electronic Means for 
the purpose of enabling members to attend and 
participate in such meetings may be made subject 
only to such requirements and restrictions as are:

(a) necessary to ensure the identification of the 
members of the Company, and the security of 
the electronic communication;
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We are very proud of the achievements of the 
Kingston Properties Limited team in 2021. This 
year saw an escalation of one of the most defining 
events in modern history, the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which undoubtedly continued to have an impact 
on businesses and individuals across the world. 
However, like the year before it, we saw the resilience 
and commitment of the Kingston Properties team 
on full display which resulted in record results, 
moving us even closer to achieving our key strategic 
objectives. 

We are pleased to report a year of record financial 
performances, strategic property acquisitions 
and impactful economic, social, and governance 

decisions which resulted in the group having one of its best 
years on record. Our demonstrated strong performance for 
the 2021 financial year is evidenced by improved year on year 
(YOY) operating results in virtually every area of the business. 

GOING FOR GROWTH
As we continue to move 
towards our strategic target of 

having one million square feet 
of real estate under ownership 

or management, 2021 saw us 
making several calculated 

acquisitions that brought us 
closer to this goal.

GROUP CHAIRMAN & 
CEO STATEMENTKEVIN

RICHARDS

GARFIELD 
SINCLAIR

(b) necessary to provide reasonable 
evidence of the entitlement of any 
person, who is not a member, to attend 
such meeting; and

(c) proportionate to achievement of these 
objectives.

(6) The right of a member to attend a 
hybrid meeting or a virtual meeting 
may be exercised by the member’s 
proxy. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained in these Articles, 
a proxy form may be returned to the 
Company by Electronic Means, and 
this shall be deemed as deposited 
for the purpose of Article 69 and 
valid, provided that the Company 
acknowledges receipt of same and is 
able to identify that the proxy has been 
duly stamped in accordance with the 
applicable law.

(7) A member who participates or votes 
electronically in a hybrid meeting 
or a virtual meeting, is deemed to 
be present in person at the general 
meeting and shall count to constitute 
a quorum and a member who casts a 
vote, electronically shall be deemed 
to have voted in person. Any hybrid 
meeting or virtual meeting is deemed 
to have been convened and held in 
Jamaica and shall be governed by the 
laws of Jamaica.

(8) Any failure of technology or any failure or inability 
of a member to attend or remain in a meeting 
held in accordance with these Articles as a result 
of a mistake or of events beyond the control of the 
Company shall not constitute a defect in the calling 
of such a meeting and shall not invalidate any 
resolutions passed or proceedings taking place at 
that meeting provided that a quorum is present at 
all times.”

   
By Order of the Board of Directors
 
 

 
Nicole Foga
Company Secretary
 
Registered Office:
7 Stanton Terrace
Kingston 6, Jamaica
 
May 30, 2022
 

NOTE: A shareholder is entitled to vote by Proxy and a Proxy need not be a shareholder. You are encouraged to vote by Proxy and a Form of Proxy 
is enclosed for your convenience. Forms of Proxy must be lodged at the Company’s registered office at least forty-eight hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting. 
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A 13 month J$700-million bridge loan obtained 
from Victoria Mutual Investments Limited gave us 
the financial capital to make strategic acquisitions 
in several markets which are in line with our goal 
to exponentially grow the business and increase 
our portfolio to 1 million square feet.  

This year, we moved into a new territory in the 
United States of America - Atlanta, Georgia. 
In partnership with experienced real estate 
developers, Apex Development Group LLC 
(Apex) and Treevita Holdings LLC (Treevita), we 
acquired a 155-unit multi-family property called 
Polaris at Camp Creek, providing another value-
add opportunity for us to expand our portfolio 
and bring our shareholders and stakeholders into 
new realms. The property has been undergoing 
phased improvements to attract new tenants in 
a market that has seen an average of 5% annual 
rent growth. 

We also entered into a 
US$3.13-million agreement 
with a developer to 
acquire three of four pre-
construction units in a 
mixed-use development 
in the Cayman Islands’ 
industrial belt called Gum Tree 5. This 
development is slated to be completed by the 
end of 2022. Our other 2021 acquisitions include 
a property on Dumfries Road in Kingston, Jamaica 
which will be developed into a multi-storey 
mixed-use office building, and a warehouse 
and office property on the Spanish Town Road 
industrial corridor. We also acquired a key Cross 
Roads, Kingston development site that will be 
developed to house small bay warehouse units, 
something that is very sought after in the area. 
Also, in 2021, we disposed of 6 condo units in 

Miami, Florida. 

It is through strategic acquisitions like these that, despite the 
global challenges of 2021, the company increased the value of 
its investment properties and real estate partnerships almost 
four-fold since 2015 to US$47 million. 

Despite the obvious global economic 
challenges of 2021, our properties remained 
almost fully occupied during the period, 
with rental income remaining consistent 
largely due to the quality and concentration 
of our tenant base. Twenty-six per cent of 
our tenants are firms that provide financial 
services, 19% provide government services 
and the remaining tenants are largely from the manufacturing 
and distribution industries. These groups and industries 
remained resilient despite the pandemic and returned a 40% 
increase in group rental income YOY, bringing in US$2.98 
million and directly pushing our net operating income up by 
65% to US$1.7 million. 

Funds generated from operations 
is another key indicator of the 
spectacular year that we had, 
growing 119% from US$612,000 in 
the previous year to US$1.4 million 
this year. This speaks to the level of cash that we continue 
to generate from the business and forms the basis on which 
dividends are paid to shareholders. In February of this year, 
the Board approved an amendment to the Group’s dividend 
policy from up to 90% of the Total Comprehensive Income (TCI) 
to up to 90% of Funds from Operations (FFO), representing a 
significant benefit for our shareholders. 

This year also saw our Jamaica Stock Exchange Corporate 
Governance Index (CGI) improving to a ‘BB’ rating indicating 
that, according to the index, the Company’s performance 
was good in terms of the various principles of corporate 
governance as documented in the JSE’s CGI. 

KINGSTON 
PROPERTIES 

LIMITED GOES 
GREEN

Kingston Properties 
Limited has always 

operated in a manner that 
contributes to positive 
economic, social, 

and environmental 
outcomes for our 

tenants, shareholders, 
employees, and the communities we serve. In 
2021, we further solidified our commitment 
to sustainability and as such, crafted a green 
policy with a bold objective – to achieve Green 
Certification for our properties by 2024. To this 
end, we have completed a significant upgrade 
of our Grenada Crescent property in the New 
Kingston business district which is retrofitted with 
an upgraded Variable Refrigerant Flow (VRF) air-
conditioning system to be more energy-efficient 
which has resulted in an over 30% reduction in 
energy costs. Similar upgrades are happening 
across all our properties to achieve this bold 
target. In addition to the significant impact that 
these upgrades are expected to have on our 
earning potential, we want to deliver efficient, 
healthy, and productive spaces to our tenants 
while simultaneously mitigating operational 
costs and potential external impacts of energy, 
water, waste, and greenhouse gas emissions.

SUPPORTING OUR COMMUNITIES 
With a portfolio of assets in communities across 
three jurisdictions, now more than ever, we 
understand the need to give back and support 
our communities. In 2021, we embarked on 

several corporate social responsibility missions, providing 
laptops and tablets to students who were having challenges 
accessing online learning and providing food and sanitary 
items to indigent residents of communities surrounding our 
properties. We believe that, through our efforts, we can drive 
real, positive change within these communities and it is a 
mission we promise to never falter on. 

Twenty twenty-one was a year like no other but we can safely 
say that, as a group, Kingston Properties Limited has turned 
the tide on the global COVID-19 pandemic and we are well 
on our way to meeting our strategic targets and delivering the 
returns promised to all our stakeholders. As part of our growth 
and resilience strategy and cognizant of the market currents 
that confront us, we will continue to focus on increasing our 
capital growth which will allow us to continue to increase the 
diversification of our asset portfolio. 

As we continue to GO FOR GROWTH, we would like to thank 
the entire team at Kingston Properties Limited, who over the 
past two years have worked tirelessly and assiduously despite 
the obvious external challenges to ensure that Kingston 
Properties Limited remains the premier real estate investment 
company based in Jamaica. Their efforts and achievements 
have demonstrated that with the right people, vision and 
conviction, nothing is impossible. We would also like to 
thank the Board of Directors for their continued stewardship 
towards building a world-class organization, and also to you 
our shareholders, for the faith and trust that you have placed 
in us to fulfil our shared objectives. 

Garfield Sinclair,    Kevin Richards, 
Group Chief Executive Officer     CEO

May 30, 2022

agreement with a developer
US$3.13m

40%
increase in group 
rental income YOY

UP TO

of Funds from
Operations to be
paid as Dividends.

90%
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Dividend Yield 
2.29%

Net Profit 
$3.0M

+ Square Feet Owned
479,000

in gross dividends paid 
$900,000

Funds from
Operations (FFO)

$1.4m

Occupancy

in 2021
%94 $2.98M

in Rental Income

Stock Price Increased by

24.1%
Total Revenue

$4.8M 9.6%return on 
average equity

**Unless otherwise indicated, all �gures are stated in United States dollars and have been primarily derived from the Company's �nancial statements which 
     are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 1514

KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT | 2021

QUICK FACTS



KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT | 2021

16

Primary Account Holder

TOP 10 SHAREHOLDERS FOR
KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED

1 VMWEALTH PROPERTY FUND     237,577,806      35.0589

2 PRIME ASSET MANAGEMENT JPS EMPLOYEES 
            SUPERANNUATION FUND                                      138,584,772      20.4507

3 PAM - COURTS (JAMAICA) PENSION PLAN                45,475,068                    6.7107

4 PAM - POOLED EQUITY FUND                                        41,096,639                    6.0646

5 PLATOON LIMITED                                                                31,018,806                    4.5774

6 NATIONAL INSURANCE FUND                                        27,142,856                    4.0054

7 PAM-POOLED PENSION REAL ESTATE                            25,800,681                   3.8074

8 GUARDIAN LIFE SHELTER PLUS FUND                            20,680,000                    3.0517

9 SAGICOR LIFE- LASCELLES DEMERCADO 
            DEFINED CONTRIBUTION FUND                            17,793,565                    2.6258

10 GUARDIAN LIFE POOLED PENSION FUND                10,000,000                    1.4757

Total Issued Capital:      677,652,928

Total Units Owned by Top 10 Shareholders:   595,170,193

Total Percentage Owned by Top 10 Shareholders:       87.8282%

PercentageVolume

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2021

Directors and Connected Parties Shareholdings Report

DIRECTORS      SHAREHOLDINGS           CONNECTED
          SHAREHOLDINGS
Garfield Sinclair       Nil
   -  Platoon Limited       31,018,806

Nicole Foga     245,730         Nil

Peter J. Reid & 
Margaret Sylvester-Reid           4,246,263           Nil

Lisa Gomes     459,460         Nil

Gladstone Lewars            Nil           Nil

Phillip Silvera        Nil              Nil

Rezworth Burchenson    421,146         Nil

as at December 31, 2021

SENIOR    SHAREHOLDINGS         CONNECTED
MANAGERS          SHAREHOLDINGS
Kevin Richards       794,635                                  Nil

Andray Francis                                 Nil                                                 Nil

Tatesha Rowe                                 28,746 
        - Fenekie Rowe        Nil                                              30,000

Roxanne Kelly           1,200          Nil

17
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of Kingston Properties 
Limited are pleased to present 
their Annual Report and the 

Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2021.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Results of 
Operating Activities                    $1,698,409
Profit before Income Tax           $3,096,878
Income Tax Credit                       $78,566
Profit for the year                         $3,018,312
Dividends declared on 
ordinary shares                             $900,000

DIVIDENDS
The company declared dividend payments of US$0.000664 
per share paid on March 11, 2021 and $0.000664 per share 
paid on August 23, 2021.

THE BOARD
The Directors of the Board comprised:

Mr. Garfield Sinclair              (Chairman/Independent Director)
Ms. Nicole Foga                     (Company Secretary/
                                                           Independent Director)
Mrs. Lisa Gomes                     (Independent Director)
Mr. Peter Reid                         (Independent Director)
Mr. Gladstone Lewars          (Independent Director)
Mr. Phillip Silvera            (Independent Director)
Mr. Rezworth Burchenson  (Independent Director)

Pursuant to Article 107 of the Schedule to the Articles of 
Incorporation of Kingston Properties Limited, the Directors 
retiring by rotation are Mrs Lisa Gomes and Mr Peter Reid, 
who both being eligible for re-election offer themselves for 
re-election to the Board.

AUDITORS
A resolution authorizing the directors to fix the Auditors’ 
remuneration will be put to the Annual General Meeting.

THANK YOU
The Directors thank the management and staff of the Group 
for the work they have done during the year under review.

By Order of the Board,

Nicole Foga
Company Secretary
May 30, 2021

Garfield Sinclair is currently retired as of 
November 2021 but plays an active role 
in the stewardship of multiple private 
and publicly held companies. Chairman 
of Kingston Properties Limited, he is the 
Chairman of the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
Pension Fund and serves as the Director of 
Cable & Wireless Jamaica Limited as well 
as several other local and foreign-based 
organizations including publicly listed 
company Proven Investments Limited. 
His wealth of experience in business 
management stems from his years of 
leadership including serving as the Managing 
Director of FLOW Jamaica, Chief Executive 
Officer of Bahamas Telecommunications 
Company (BTC) and a member of the team 
which created Dehring, Bunting & Golding 
Limited where he worked for more than 13 
years and was eventually appointed President 
and Chief Operating Officer.

Licensed as a CPA since 1993, Mr Sinclair 
has a B.Sc. in Business Administration from 
San Diego State University and an Executive 
Certificate in Strategy and Innovation from 
the Sloan School of Management at the 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).

Gladstone “Tony “Lewars is a Chartered 
Accountant by profession and a retired 

partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
where he was the leader of the 

Advisory Division of the firm. He is a 
Director of Mayberry Investment Ltd., 
and Guardian Life Ltd and chairs the 

Boards of JN Cayman Ltd, JN Cayman 
Money Services Ltd, Guardian Group 
Foundation and The Holy Trinity High 

School. He is a past student of Jamaica 
College and a Trustee for the Jamaica 
College Trust. He serves on the Board 
of Governors for The Alpha Academy 
and is a member of the Police Civilian 

Oversight Authority (PCOA). 
Mr Lewars holds two Master’s Degrees 
in Economics and Accounting from the 

University of the West Indies. 

In 2015, he was conferred with 
the honour of the Order of Distinction 

in the rank of Commander 
Class (CD) in recognition 
of his invaluable service 

to the Public and 
Private Sectors.

Nicole Foga is the Managing Partner of 
Foga Daley Attorneys-At-Law and heads 

the firm’s Commercial Department. 
Her practice areas include Cyber Law, 
Intellectual Property and Commercial 

Law. Ms Foga also holds chairmanship 
positions on the Telecommunications, 

Broadcasting and Technology Committee 
of the Jamaica Bar Association and 

the University of Technology’s Pension 
Fund. She is Vice Chairman of Jamaica’s 

Copyright Tribunal, Director and 
Company Secretary for the Usain Bolt 

Foundation and a member of the Mona 
ICT Policy Centre Advisory Committee. 

Among her numerous other interests, she 
is also a prolific author. 

Ms Foga holds an LLM in Commercial Law 
(Aberdeen University), LLB and a Bachelor 
of Arts Degree (1st Class Hons.) from the 

University of the West Indies.

GARFIELD “GARRY” SINCLAIR
CHAIRMAN / INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

NICOLE FOGA
COMPANY SECRETARY / 

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

GLADSTONE ‘TONY’ LEWARS
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS & PROFILES

- Since April 2008
- Since April 2008

-- Since January 2019
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Lisa Gomes is an accomplished 
Financial professional with a career 
of over 35 years in the fields of 
finance, insurance and tourism 
and completed professional 
designations in accounting 
and insurance (CGA and FLMI 
respectively). Miss Gomes currently 
serves as the Country Manager 
for the Jamaican arm of Chukka 
Caribbean Adventures Limited 
(CCA). In addition to being a 
valued member of the Kingston 
Properties Limited board with 
direct responsibility for chairing 
its Corporate Governance 
Committee and a member of its 
Investment Committee, she is also 
Chairman of Proven Wealth Limited 
where she also chairs its Audit 
Committee.

Mrs Gomes’ proficiency in Finance, 
Investment Banking, and Pension 
Fund Management was honed 
with some of the Caribbean’s 
largest integrated financial 
institutions including Guardian 
Holdings Limited, Guardian Asset 
Management Jamaica Limited and 
Sandals Resorts International. She 
is the founder of Capsol Advisory 
Limited, a company formed to
provide much-needed services in 
the Finance and Tourism sector.

Peter Reid is a career Banker 
with over 30 years of experience 

in the financial services sector 
with expertise in sales and 

management, credit, financial 
analysis, financial advisory and 

deal structuring. Mr Reid is 
currently serving as the Chief 

Executive Officer of the Building 
Society Operations at Victoria 
Mutual where he joined as a 
Senior Vice President & Chief 
Operating Officer with direct 
responsibility for the Building 

Society Operations. Before 
joining Victoria Mutual, he was a 
District Vice President providing 
sales and service, and strategic 
leadership for the Bank of Nova 

Scotia Jamaica Limited. 

Mr Reid holds a Bachelor of 
Arts Degree with Honours in 

International Studies from York 
University (Toronto) and has held 
several directorships on boards 
of several enterprises including 

Grace Kennedy Currency Trading 
Services Limited, Guardian Life 

Limited, Guardian Life Asset 
Management Jamaica Limited, 
the National Water Commission 

and West Indies Alliance 
Insurance Company Limited, the 
National Water Commission and 
West Indies Alliance Insurance 

Company Limited.

Phillip Silvera is a former 
Executive Vice-President of The 
Victoria Mutual Building Society 

(VMBS) where he spent 32 years in 
various senior positions including 

Divisional President, Financial 
Controller and Chief Accountant. 

A fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants 
(FCCA) United Kingdom and the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(FCA) Jamaica, Mr Silvera has 

over four decades of experience 
in the financial industry. He was 
also a licenced Security Dealer 

and served as a registered Public 
Accountant for many years.

He currently serves on the boards 
of Victoria Mutual Building Society, 

Victoria Mutual Investments 
and Victoria Mutual Wealth 

Management. He previously 
served on the boards of several 

other companies, including VMBS 
Money Transfer, Victoria Mutual 
Insurance Company and Island 
Victoria Bank. He is also a past 
Chairman of J.E.T.S. Limited, 

operators of MultiLink, Jamaica’s 
largest payment system.

Rezworth Burchenson is 
the CEO of Victoria Mutual 

Wealth Management. He 
was appointed to the role in 

January 2019 after his tenure 
as Deputy CEO and CEO of VM 
Pensions Management Limited. 

He transitioned to the Victoria 
Mutual Group from his prior 

role as CEO of Prime Asset 
Management Ltd, Jamaica’s 

only independent pension 
provider. Before Prime, he was 

Vice President and General 
Manager of Pan Caribbean 

Asset Management Ltd, with an 
overarching responsibility for 

managing Jamaica’s largest 
unit trust (Sigma Unit Trust).

In 2012, Mr Burchenson was 
named to the PSOJ’s “50 Under 
Fifty” in the field of investments 

and finance. A Barclays Bank 
Scholar while at the University 

of the West Indies, he received a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Economics 

(Hons.) and an MBA in Banking 
and Finance (Hons.). His most 

recent executive education 
programme was participation 
in the Kaplan-Norton Strategy 

Execution Bootcamp by The 
Palladium Group.

PETER REID
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

PHILLIP SILVERA
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

ROXANNE KELLY
FINANCIAL CONTROLLER

JOVAUGHN ROSE
PROPERTY & BUILDING MANAGER

RAMONE SORTIE
SENIOR PROPERTY OFFICER

KEVIN G  RICHARDS
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ANDRAY FRANCIS
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

TATESHA ROWE
SENIOR MANAGER OPERATIONS

REZWORTH BURCHENSON
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

LISA GOMES
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

THE TEAM & PROFILES

- Since January 2011 - Since January 2011 - Since January 2021 -Since July 2021
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ESG OVERVIEW

The core principles of ESG – 
environmental, social and 
governance – have always been 

integral to KPREIT’s business. Building 
on this foundation, our commitment to 
environmental stewardship, social responsibility, 
and good governance has made us a leader 
and first mover in our industry and beyond. 

ESG represents a long-term investment that 
strengthens our operations, enhances our 
competitive positioning, and improves risk 
management. 

Kingston Properties Limited is committed 
to delivering for our four 
key stakeholder groups 
namely: Employees, 
Tenants, Communities 
and Shareholders.  

ENVIRONMENT 
SOCIAL AND 
Governance

KEVIN RICHARDS
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Richards is tasked with driving the strategic 
objectives of the Group and maximizing 
shareholders’ value. His career spans over 
25 years of experience in the areas of media, 
investment management and real estate. 

JOVAUGHN ROSE
PROPERTY & BUILDING MANAGER

Mr. Rose joined the company in April 2021 
and is charged with leading the development 
and implementation of the company’s 
Sustainable & Safety Policies. A major part of 
his portfolio is to Manage Capital and Major 
Maintenance Projects with a clearly defined 
scope of works and deliverables, to the KP 
Standards which aligns with our strategy.

RAMONE SORTIE
SENIOR PROPERTY OFFICER

Mr. Sortie primarily represents the operations 
management side of the properties in the 
portfolio, guaranteeing timely rent collections 
and effective tenant relations and 
communications. 

Mrs. Rowe leads the operations management 
of the organization including tenant relations 
and communications, as well as human 
resources management and investor relations. 
She oversees all lease renewals for existing 
tenants, lease negotiations for new tenants 
and acts as the chief liaison with the Group’s 
property management partners in both 
Cayman and the United States of America. 

TATESHA  ROWE
SENIOR MANAGER OPERATIONS

Mr. Francis joined the company in May 2020 and 
leads the Group’s financial planning, information 
technology and risk management strategies, 
including the optimization of corporate structure 
and management controls to achieve sustainable 
growth.

ANDRAY FRANCIS
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms. Kelly is responsible for the financial operations 
of the company, producing periodic financial 
reports, maintaining an adequate system of 
accounting records and a comprehensive set of 
controls to mitigate risk and enhance the accuracy 
of the company’s financial results.

ROXANNE KELLY
FINANCIAL CONTROLLER



KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT | 2021

2726

Kingston Properties Limited is 
committed to protecting the 
environment and improving 

stakeholder value by conducting 
our operations and activities in an 
environmentally responsible and 
sustainable manner. To this end, in 
2021 we have developed a Green 
policy with the objective to achieve 
Green Certification for our properties 
to maximize stakeholder value while 
continuing to operate in a manner that 
contributes to positive environmental 
outcomes. Adopting “Green” Building 

ENVIRONMENT SOCIAL AND GOVERNMENT. CONT’D ENVIRONMENT SOCIAL AND GOVERNMENT. CONT’D

ENVIRONMENTAL 
REPORT

natural light. Translucent sheets permit 
natural lighting through the roofs of 
commercial & residential buildings. This 
provides adequate sustainable lighting 
during daytime operations and significantly 
reduce energy consumption in buildings. 
The reduction in energy consumption 
directly reduces energy & electrical 
overheads and contributes significantly to 
environmental sustainability.

• Installed new inverter AC units to all 
   properties that required a new AC Unit. 

Inverter air conditioning units are more 
energy efficient than non-inverter systems 
as they are better able to regulate and 
control the room temperature while 
reducing energy usage. 

•  Installed new fixed louver windows to 
warehouse spaces at EAR to permit 
natural ventilation. Fresh air through 
buildings rid spaces of unwanted odours, 
exhausted carbon dioxide or recycled 
air. This contributes positively to better 
air quality in our buildings and a better 
working environment. Additionally, natural 
ventilation reduces energy consumption 
therefore positively impacting energy 
costs. It is important to preserve healthy 
workspaces by undertaking initiatives that 
contribute to clean air circulation.

• Started the project to install censored lights 
   and faucets at Grenada Crescent property.

• Planted low maintenance plants for 
landscaping projects at two of our properties

We  continue to proactively assess the potential risks from 
climate change that may impact the properties in our portfolio. 
We have engaged the National Environment & Planning agency 
(NEPA) as a strategic partner through their Green Business 
Jamaica (GBJ) Programme to aid us in meeting our target 
for Green Certification for our properties, both locally and 
internationally. The GBJ Programme is designed to develop 
a local model for sustainable consumption and production in 
Jamaica.  Aimed at the private sector, the voluntary programme 
promotes pollution prevention and resource conservation 
activities, in addition to the general principles of corporate 
social responsibility through training and engagement with 
staff, vendors, customers and communities.  

Additionally, we will continue to implement policies, programs 
and projects that complement sustainable development 
and operations. Going forward, some of our plans include 
executing various energy conservation, ventilation, water 
conservation and recycling projects. 

Specifically, these include:

1. Energy Conservation Projects
• The exploration of Solar Power Supply to our buildings

•  Replacement of old electrical systems   
    & fixtures with modernized technology.

methods and operations improves the way 
we use energy, water and materials to reduce 
negative impacts on human health and the overall 
environment.

Sustainability and environmentally friendly operations have 
become a deliberate strategy for Kingston Properties Limited. 
In 2021, we embarked on a number of Green strategies which 

included:

• Upgrading the Grenada Crescent (GC) property with a 
Variable Refrigerant Flow (VRF) air-conditioning system to 
be more energy efficient. VRF systems are temperature 
control devices used for space heating and cooling. 
The technology offers a highly flexible and efficient 
alternative to traditional building heating, ventilation 
and air-conditioning (HVAC) systems. The system is 
designed to create cleaner ventilation, reduce energy 
consumption and pollutants to the environment by 
utilizing smart technology to optimize energy efficiency.

• Changed all fluorescent lamps to LED on the KPREIT 
   Building.

•  Installed new Translucent Sheets to the warehouse roof 
    of the East Ashenheim Road (EAR) property to permit 
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2. Ventilation Projects
• The installation of Wind Turbines/   
    Extractors to roof

3. Water Conservation Projects
• Rain-water Harvesting

Importantly, we are cognisant that environmental 
sustainability requires our continuous efforts. 
Our experience demonstrates that through our 
activities as real estate owners, developers and 
managers, we can contribute to environmental 
solutions as a positive force while improving our 
financial performance and becoming a stronger, 
more purposeful organization in the process. 

Our Green Policy can be found on our website at:
 www.kpreit.com.

Kingston Properties is committed to the principles of 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and engages 
in a series of programmes that are designed to give 

back to the communities in which the Company operates. 
The Company adopts a policy of ensuring that all business 
transactions, deals and relationships with our customers, 
suppliers and partners are transparent, ethical, and executed 
following high corporate governance standards. 

Our mandate is to ensure that our employees operate with 
integrity, honesty and respect towards every individual with 
whom they interact regardless of class, race, gender, and 
socioeconomic background. We monitor and ensure that our 
business activities comply with the spirit of the law, accepted 
ethical standards and international norms. 

We are firm believers in development through 
inclusion, equity and access. Jamaica, as a part of 
the Caribbean Community (CARICOM), is home 
to one of the world’s youngest populations 
and so we strategically focus on programmes 
that target youth and help to create positive 
engagement. They are both the leaders of now 
and the future.  

Volunteerism forms a big part of our company 
culture. Our team supports local communities 
and vulnerable groups through giving of their 
time, talents and as a company, donations to 
charitable organizations. In addition to education 
and youth development, we have supported 
several environmental projects and social 
impact initiatives geared towards environmental 
protection and sustainability. 

As the premier real estate investment company 
in Jamaica, Kingston Properties Limited’s 
approach to business has always been about 
using industry as A Force for Good. Our work 
transcends wealth creation to ensure that we 
have a positive impact on the daily lives of our 
clients and our communities. 

Through corporate social responsibility (CSR), 
our mission is to merge profit with purpose 
and to use our resources to create a more just, 
equitable and sustainable world. We believe 
that companies can do well and do good 
simultaneously, regardless of size or industry. 
Corporate Social Responsibility begins with 
a mindset of service and an understanding 
that doing good daily is a productive path to 
unlocking higher purpose, both as individuals 
and as a company. Together, we’ll lead what’s 
next.

DONATION OF ALMOST J$1 MILLION TO 
SCHOOLS AMID COVID-19 PRESSURE 

Across the world, learning has been significantly disrupted 
by the COVID-19 pandemic with educators forced to use 
creative means to continue to reach and educate students. 
With the forced closure of many schools, learning has become 
predominantly remote and virtual which posed an added 
challenge for students without digital devices and internet 
connections. This resulted in widespread learning loss as it 
was discovered that many students did not have access to 

digital devices to continue their education. In response to this 
crisis, we donated ten tablets and two laptops to The Red Hills 
Primary School to assist teachers and students with 
online learning. The company also donated 
J$255,000 to the Dunrobin Primary School to 
aid in the repairs of critical infrastructure across 

ENVIRONMENT SOCIAL AND GOVERNMENT. CONT’D ENVIRONMENT SOCIAL AND GOVERNMENT. CONT’D
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the school grounds as well as a cash injection 
of J$50,000 to the Callaloo Mews Basic School 
feeding programme which has been critical 
in feeding students in the poverty-ridden 
community. The school also received sanitary 
products and masks to help with the protection 
against COVID-19. Riverton Primary School also 
received sanitation items to aid in the protection 
of students who, despite the pandemic, had 
no choice but to visit the school for face-to-
face learning. They received 2 thermometers, 
2 sanitiser dispensers, children’s masks, hand 
sanitisers as well as funds for the school’s Summer 
Programme. We also provided cash grants to the 
two top-performing Primary Exit Profile (PEP) 
students at Orange Hill Primary to assist with their 
education as they advanced to high school. 

SUPPORTING THE COMMUNITY

For the second Christmas in a row, Kingston 
Properties Limited partnered with Food for 
Poor Jamaica and the Social Development 
Commission to deliver care packages to some 
of Kingston’s most vulnerable. The packages 
contained food items, and sanitary and cleaning 
supplies. The donations, which were valued at 
over J$500,000, were meant to ease the burdens 
on the communities during the Christmas season.

Corporate governance remains paramount 
for Kingston Properties Limited as the group 
endeavours to maintain high standards and 

principles in the operations of our business. As we 
carry on our business of being the premier real 
estate investing company in Jamaica, compliance 
with the legal and regulatory frameworks under 
which the Group operates remains among our 

main focus, together with being a good 
corporate citizen and neighbour to the 
surrounding communities. During this 
financial year, the COVID-19 pandemic 
continued to present challenges 
worldwide and required the continued 
focus of the Board on the risks faced as 
a Group. 

KPREIT’s corporate governance principles are 
built on the following core elements:

• Equity in the treatment of all shareholders

•  Transparent, regular and relevant 
communication to shareholders 
governmental/regulatory bodies 
and the public about the Company’s 
activities and its corporate governance 
commitment.

• Maintain the independence of the Board 
and the Company’s Executive Management 
team and ensures a clear and properly 
documented division of responsibility 
between the Board and the Executive 
Management.

• The Board is only comprised of    
   independent members.

• Consistently monitoring the Company’s  
   operations to detect and resolve any 

potential scenarios which may result in 
conflicts of interest between the interests 
of its shareholders, the members of its 
Board and its Executive Management.

The Company periodically reviews its policies and codes of 
conduct to ensure adherence to our core values and a high 
level of operational transparency for our shareholders’ benefit. 
We remain committed to open and active engagement 
with our stakeholders through our website, annual reports, 
stock exchange filings and news releases, traditional, social 
media and electronic mail, annual general meetings, investor 
briefings and our weekly newsletter. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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For more than a decade, Kingston Properties 
Limited (KPREIT) has pursued its mission to 
be the premier real estate investing company 
in Jamaica and has demonstrated a strong 
commitment to implementing and adhering 
to good Corporate Governance practices. As 
customary, the Board conducted its annual 
review of the Company’s governance systems 
and structures, including internal controls, 
business continuity, communication policy and 
risk management policy and framework, and our 
compliance with the Private Sector Organization 
of Jamaica (PSOJ) Corporate Governance 
Code.  Also, the board reviewed the Company’s 
performance on the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
(JSE) Corporate Governance Index which saw the 
Company with a rating of BB and a rating score 
of 78%. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
The Company’s process for selecting and 
reviewing directors is done annually and aligns 
with the JSE regulations and the PSOJ Corporate 
Governance Code. Directors are selected 
based on a combination of expertise, judgment, 
character and independence. 

The Board ensures that the Company’s vision 
and mission are fulfilled in the interest of 
all stakeholders. Their oversight is critical in 
supporting the executive management team 
to meet strategic objectives and consistently 
monitor policies, laws and regulations for any 
potential challenges. The Board also plays a 
key role in reviewing the Company’s internal 
control processes to guarantee that long term 
shareholder value is maintained. 

There are three broadly defined categories of directors, 
namely:

1. Independent Director (I) :- 
     A member of the board who is (i) not employed 

by the Company or has not been a staff member for 
at least five years prior to their appointment to the 
board and (ii) not related to any employee of the 
Company.

2.  Non-Executive Director (NE):- 
A member of the board who receives no 
remuneration from the Company save and except 
for board attendance fees or dividends from their 
personal shareholdings in the Company’s stock. 

3. Executive Director (E):- 
     A member of the  board who is employed as part of    
     the executive management of the Company.

There were seven (7) directors on the Board, all of whom are 
Non-executive and Independent. 

Board Responsibilities
The Board continued to discharge its responsibility for the 
corporate governance of Kingston Properties Limited. It 
monitored the related areas of risk and financial performance, 
business operations, and adherence to regulatory and legal 
requirements to ensure continued growth in shareholder 
value. 

Some main activities included:
Strategic Imperatives 

•   Reviewing the Company’s strategic plans as presented 
     by the Executive 

•    Applying proper consideration and judgment  in arriving 
      at decisions that balance the interests  of all stakeholders

• Providing appropriate channels and systems   
   for the report of activities that would not be 
   compliant with the laws of the land or agreed 
   policy

• Adhering to good governance principles 
    and practices to the benefit of all stakeholders 
   Performance and Conduct 

• Conducting risk management assessments 
   on the Company’s operations

• Monitoring related party transactions to 
   ensure that they are undertaken on normal 
   commercial terms and are not prejudicial 
   to the interests of the shareholders 

Organization and Activity 
• Reviewing and monitoring the policies of 
   the Company periodically

• Reviewing (and updating where necessary)  
   internal control mechanisms established to 
   ensure accuracy and transparency in the 
   Company’s operations

• Maintaining compliance with regulatory 
requirements

• Reviewing the approval process for new 
   property acquisitions or disposals in line 
   with established guidelines

Board Operations
The Board of Directors meets monthly to provide 
the requisite oversight under the diverse markets 
within which KPREIT operates. At each meeting 
of the Board of Directors, each director receives 

Minutes, Management Accounts and comprehensive reports 
detailing the operations of the Company, and the portfolio of 
assets. Where necessary, the Board has met more frequently 
to address critical issues. 

Board Composition 
The rules governing the composition of the Board remain the 
same and are as follows:

1. The Chairman of the Board should be a non- executive 
     Director; 

2. The Board comprises Directors with a range of 
       commercial and financial experience including expertise 
     in real estate, asset management, law and financial  
     management; and 

3. At least one-third of the Board comprises Independent 
     Directors. 

The composition is reviewed annually to ensure that the 
Board of Directors has the appropriate mix of expertise and 
experience. The Board is chaired by Mr. Garfield Sinclair. 
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The CEO, Mr Kevin Richards, is not a member of 
the Board but is the accountable officer in the 
management of the Company and is responsible 
for the execution of the board approved strategies 
which are primarily geared at protecting and 
improving shareholder value. 

Board Meeting Attendance
Board Remuneration

The Company maintains a transparent and 
equitable remuneration policy for its board 
members. All non-executive directors are eligible 
to be paid board fees. The Board has seven 
(7) non-executive directors and all directors 
(including the Chairman) are paid US$2,550.00 
per quarter. There are no fees paid for attending 
committee meetings and there is no retainer. 

Directors do not participate in any share option 
plan or any incentive schemes. For the financial 
year, a total of US$63,750 was paid to members 
as Board fees. 

Committees of the Board
The Committees comprise directors from the 
main Board, one co-opted member who sits on 

the Audit Committee and the CEO. Each Board committee 
is constituted under a charter that outlines the roles and 
responsibilities of each committee and its members. The 
committees assist in the governance of the Company. 
The committees are: 

• Corporate Governance  and Nominations

• Audit

• Human Resources and Compensation

• Investment and Risk

The minutes of each board committee meeting are presented 
at the main board as well as the subsequent committee 
meeting. 

The Corporate Governance and 
Nominations Committee 

A continuously high standard of corporate governance 
protects shareholders’ interests while enhancing long-term 
shareholder value. The Board, therefore, has adopted the 
Corporate Governance Guidelines of the PSOJ’s Code of 

Corporate Governance model along with the 
JSE’s guidelines on Corporate Governance. The 
Company’s Corporate Governance documents 
can be accessed at our website at: www.kpreit.
com. 

Committee Composition
The committee is chaired by Director Lisa Gomes 
and comprises three members, all of whom 
are independent non-executive directors. The 
committee met twice during the year.

Committee Report
During the year the committee reviewed 
the following:

1. Group’s Corporate Governance Policy   
       and Board Charter, terms of reference 
       for all sub-committees, as well as the 
       Code of Ethics, Risk Management and
       Corporate Social Responsibility policies

2. Policy on Board appointment

3. JSE Corporate Governance Index

4.  Board Compensation

5. Guidelines for dealing in the 
       Company’s shares. 

6.    Nomination of a new director to serve 
       on the board and several sub-committees.

7. Corporate Governance Training 
        proposals

All recommendations of the committee were approved by the 
board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee monitors and evaluates the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control systems. The Committee 
also reviews the accuracy of information prepared for inclusion 
in financial reports and is responsible for the nomination of 
external auditors and checks the adequacy of external audits 
in respect of cost, scope and performance. 

The Committee is composed of three non-executive directors 
and a co-opted external member. The committee meets 
quarterly and is chaired by Mr. Garfield Sinclair.

Committee Report
The Committee met four (4) times during the year. The 
following represent the activities of the Committee over the 
year:

1. Reviewed the audited financial statements 
          of the Company and subsidiary  companies 
       presented by the external auditors.
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2. Reviewed the engagement letter and 
       approved the remuneration of the 
       external auditors.

3. Ensured consistent reporting standards 
       for financial statements presented by 
       both the external auditors and 
       management.   
 
4. Reviewed the Management Discussion 
       & Analysis statement published at
       reporting intervals. 

5. Assessed the risk management policies 
       of the Company.

Human Resources and 
Compensation Committee

The Human Resources and Compensation 
Committee oversees and guides on employee 

and compensation matters of the Company. The Committee 
is composed of the Board Chairman and Company Secretary 
and meets at least once per year or as is needed. 

Committee Report
During the year the Committee met twice and engaged in the 
following activities: 

1. Reviewed the performance of the CEO

2. Reviewed and approved a comprehensive 
       compensation package for all team members

3. Reviewed and recommended for approval by the   
       Board, a long term incentive plan for Executive team.

Investment & Risk Committee

 

The Investment & Risk Committee provides oversight on the 
investment and financing strategy for the Company’s assets 

and ensures compliance with agreed policy and 
targets. The Committee is composed of four (4) 
directors 

Committee Report
During the year, the committee met five times 
and engaged in the following activities: 

1. Reviewed the portfolio performance.

2. Reviewed several prospective 
       acquisitions.

3. Reviewed several terms for loan 
       re-financing from several financial 
       institutions.

       
Director Training 
At each board meeting, management provides 
directors with various real estate markets 
trends and outlook reports. Additionally, they 
are provided with macroeconomic updates on 
the jurisdictions in which the Company owns 
property or is targeting for acquisition. There is 
also an annual training programme designed 
for new Directors, current Board Members and 
company executives however, this was not held 
in 2021 due to public health guidance on in-
person gatherings and the required format for 
this intensive training. 

A new Directors orientation session 
was held for Rezworth Burchenson 
and Phillip Silvera which involved an 
overview of the company’s policies 
and terms of reference for each 

sub-committee as well as a review of previous 
board minutes. Mr Phillip Silvera was appointed 
a Director of the Company on January 1, 2021. 
In accordance with Article 105 of the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation, his appointment 
expired on July 14, 2021. He offered himself for 
reelection and was duly elected at the Annual 
General Meeting. Mr Rezworth Burchenson was 
recommended by the Board and offered himself 
for election at the AGM held on July 14, 2021, 
where he was duly elected. 

Internal Audit 
The Company places great emphasis on the monitoring and 
management of risks primarily through oversight by both the 
Audit Committee and the Investment Committee. 

Conflict of Interest and related party transaction

Every Director, in exercising their powers 
and discharging duties, is expected to 
act ethically, with integrity and in good 
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faith for the best interest of the Company and its 
shareholders. The Board recognizes that private 
and/or personal interests can impact a Director’s 
ability to make objective decisions in the best 
interests of the Company. 

Directors are therefore required to avoid 
conflicts of interest and even the appearance of 
such conflicts. The Company’s Conflict of Interest 
Policy provides a transparent framework to guide 
individual directors and each year, directors are 
required to sign a Conflict of Interest Statement.

A copy of the Company’s Conflict of Interest 
policy is available on our website at 
www.kpreit.com. 

Whistleblower Policy
Despite a 
small staff 
c o m p l e m e n t , 
the Board of 
D i r e c t o r s 
has sought 
to create a 
culture of open 
communication 
between staff, 
management and the Board. This culture also 
extends to our outsourced service partners 
who through participation in meetings of board 
committees routinely engage in dialogue with 
Board members. Our service partners are 
encouraged to speak candidly on any issue of 
concern including legal or regulatory breaches, 
non-compliance or inconsistencies in reporting 
by accountants, auditors or the executive. 

Dividend Policy
In February 2021, as part of the mission 
and vision to operate using accepted 
best practices of real estate investment 
trusts globally, the Board approved an 
amendment to the Group’s dividend policy 
from up to 90% of Total Comprehensive 
Income (TCI) to up to 90% of total Funds 
From Operations (FFO) in dividends to 
shareholders on record.

The declaration of dividends is at the absolute discretion of the 
board of directors of the Company and dividends are subject 
to available cash flow and any need the Company may have, 
from time to time, to reinvest earnings as part of its growth 
strategy. The board reviews the level of payout of dividends 
on an annual basis to increase the payout level in line with the 
standard for REITs globally.

Dividends therefore may be paid twice annually, with the final 
dividend being paid once audited financial statements have 
been submitted to the JSE. In 2021, we paid out 29.8% of net 
profits and 65.4% of funds from operations as dividends. 

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company maintains 
a policy of regular 
communication with 
our key stakeholders 
such as shareholders, 
tenants, the Stock 
Exchange, our financiers 
and prospective 
investors to ensure that 
they are well informed 
about the activities 

and performance of the Company. The 
Company usually receives timely feedback from 
stakeholders. 

The main communication channels are via (i) the 
Company’s website, (ii) our annual reports and 
quarterly financial reports, and (iii) the various 
disclosures and announcements to the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange that are also sent electronically 
via email to shareholders and the media. 
We remain very responsive to shareholders’ 
questions and comments and these are easily 
facilitated via email, telephone and social media. 

In 2021, the Company provided real estate news 
to shareholders and the general public on current 
market conditions and trends from real estate 
markets around the world as it has done since 
2010, through our weekly newsletter. During the 
year, we extended our digital footprint to social 
media to reach a wider market. KPREIT’s social 
media channels continue to grow with increased 
activity and a cohesive content strategy that 
has resulted in over 1,000 new followers. These 
activities support our tagline, “…gateway to 
global real estate investing.”

Tatesha Rowe, 
Investor Relations Officer
May 30, 2022

Lisa Gomes,
Chair, Corporate Governance 
& Nominations Committee
May 30, 2022
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In 2021 the Group continued the transition of its 
property portfolio away from a concentration in 
condominiums in South Florida into higher-yielding 
properties in the Cayman Islands, Jamaica and the 
wider United States of America.

The Group’s operating results continue to see 
improvement year on year (YOY) as of the end of 
the financial year 2021. The improved financial 

performance is also attributed to the continued economic 
recovery spurred by reductions in some of the containment 
measures associated with the COVID-19 global pandemic 
and favourable vaccine rollout programmes in major global 
economies. In addition, a very buoyant homebuying market 
in the US1 has resulted in improved valuations on our condo 
portfolio allowing the Group to achieve gains on the disposal 
of condo units sold during the review period. This coupled 
with the strong tenant demand for our warehouse properties 
and maintaining steady tenancies in our office buildings 
in Jamaica and the Cayman Islands contributed to higher 
revenues and profits the year.

An overview of our current portfolio of assets is shown below 
and comprises a mix of residential, retail, office and warehouse 
properties in three jurisdictions.

management 
discussion &
analysis

RESIDENTIAL

WAREHOUSE &
INDUSTRIAL

OFFICE

46%

11%

40%

RETAIL

3%

1https://www.miamirealtors.com/2021/10/21/87686/
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In 2021, we completed the acquisition of a to-
be-developed Dumfries Road office property, 
an office and warehouse property on 232A 
Spanish Town Road and a to-be-developed 
warehouse property in the Cross Road area, in 
Kingston, Jamaica. This moved our holding in the 
warehouse rental space from 36% in 2020 to 40% 
in 2021 and our office rental space from 48% in 
2020 to 46% in 2021 when balanced across all 
sub-classes. We also invested in Gum Tree 5, a 
multi-unit multi-use commercial complex being 
developed in the Cayman Islands. 

Additionally, we leveraged our real estate 
partnerships in the US and acquired a 38% stake 
in Polaris at Camp Creek, a 155-unit multi-family 
property and we also invested in CGI Fund I. 
The acquisitions are in line with our strategy of 
diversifying our holdings into other markets and 
asset sub-classes. Cayman remains a solid market 
and we remain upbeat about its economic 
resilience and ability to provide our portfolio with 
more competitive yields. As part of our ongoing 
diversification strategy out of the South Florida 
condo market, we sold six (6) condominium 
units during the year, ultimately, reducing our 
holdings in the residential sub-market category. 
The disposal of the Florida condo units coupled 
with lower year-on-year market valuations on our 
remaining condominium portfolio and additions 
to the property portfolio with assets in other 
markets reduced the weighting of residential 
properties in our entire portfolio from 12% to 
11% in 2021. Average occupancy during the year 
was approximately 94% and the usual vacancy 
levels from tenant turnover.

STOCK PRICE & DIVIDENDS
In a year that saw a relatively flat return of the JSE Main Index, 
the stock closed 2021 at $9.00 per share, representing a 24.1% 
gain compared to year-end 2020 and a 60% return on the 
price offered at the time of our rights issue in November 2019.  
We paid out 29.8% of net profits and 65.4% of funds from 
operations as dividends during the year. We continued our 
share buyback programme to return value to our shareholders 
during the year, with the purchase of 9,471 units at an average 
price of $6.75.

INCOME STATEMENT
The Group posted a 40% increase in rental income to $2.9 
million for the twelve months ending December 31, 2021, 
compared to $2.1 million for the same period in 2020. Net 
Operating Income (NOI), being total rental income less 
operating expenses, for 2021 increased by 65%, moving from 
US$1.0 million for the same period in 2020 to $1.7 million. This 
was primarily due to the income generated from the additions 
to investment property made during the year. 

Group operating expenses, including direct property 
expenses and administrative expenses, increased 16.6% year 

on year to $1.3 million. Direct property expenses 
(property taxes, homeowner’s association (HOA) 
fees, repairs and maintenance, and property 
insurance) declined year over year by 21.4% in 
2021, moving from $400,535 to $314,628. This 
was primarily attributed to the reduction in HOA 
fees and property taxes during the year resulting 
from the sale of condominium units in South 
Florida during the year. 

The Group’s EBITDA increased from $1.4 million 
in 2020 to $3.5 million in 2021. Cash Flow From 
Operations (CFO) for 2021 amounted to $2.1 
million compared to $577,320 for the same 
period in 2020.

Net Profit for 2021 amounted to US$3.0 million 
compared to US$612,725 for the previous year. 
Net profit for 2021 was bolstered by core rental 
income growth combined with fair value gains 
of certain properties in our portfolio, as well as 
gains from the disposal of several condo units 
during the year.

Funds from Operations for the financial year 
registered a year on year increase of 16.5% to 
US$621,394. 

GROUP BALANCE SHEET 
Investment Properties totalled $41.8 million as at December 
31, 2021, versus $38.1 million as at December 31, 2020, an 
increase of 9.6%. The net increase results from the acquisition 
of the Dumfries Road office property, an office and warehouse 
property on 232A Spanish Town Road and a to-be-developed 
warehouse property in the Cross Road area, in Kingston, 
Jamaica. This was partially offset by the disposal of six 
condominiums in Florida in 2021. 

Total assets as of December 31, 2021, amounted to $50.5 
million, an increase of 10.7% over the $45.6 million balance as 
at December 31, 2020. The was driven primarily by properties 
acquired over the year combined with higher fair value 
improvements on properties in Jamaica, Cayman Islands and 
Florida. The Group also held cash and near-cash holdings of 
$2.7 million, equity interests in real estate partnerships of $3.5 
million and deposits on investment properties amounting to 
$1.2 million. The Group maintained a sufficient cash balance 
in 2021 as part of a cash management strategy to ensure the 
Group could meet all its operating and financing obligations 
and take advantage of any property opportunities.

Total loans payable amounted to $17.2 million at December 
31, 2021, compared with $13.7 million at December 31, 2020, 
representing a 25.6% year-on-year increase. The increased 
loan balance, which is primarily collateralized bank financing, 
was deployed to expand our operating asset base. These are 
all collateralized bank financing to facilitate the expansion of 
our property portfolio and are denominated both in US and 
Jamaican dollars from our financial partners in Jamaica and the 
Cayman Islands. We continue to maintain fairly conservative 
debt ratios as part of our risk management strategy. 

Total Equity increased by 6.9% over the twelve months to 
December 31, 2021, moving from $30.5 million 
in 2020 to $32.6 million in 2021.

funds from operations (FFO)

2017

$307,376

$520,845 $533,332 $621,294

$1,358,600

2018 2019 2020 2021

Year-End Financial Highlights
(for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021)

Rental Income (USD)
Operating Income (USD)
Fair Value Gains (Loss) on Investment Property
Pre-Tax Profit/(Loss) (USD)
Net Profit (USD)
Funds From Operations (USD)
Total Comprehensive Income (USD)
Total Equity (USD)
Investment Properties (USD)
Investments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Net Operating Margin %
Dividends Paid (USD)
Closing Stock Price (JMD)

$2.131M
$1.030M
$0.307M
$0.597M
$0.612M
$0.612M
$0.612M
$30.517M
$38.130M
$1.085M
48.4
$405,389
$7.25

$2.981M
$1.698M
$0.838M
$3.096M
$3.018M
$1.358M
$3.018M
$32.634M
$41.779M
$3.451M
57.0
$888,152
$9.00

12 months to 
December 31, 2020

12 months to 
December 31, 2021
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
The value of investments properties held and real estate partnerships as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 
2021 respectively were as follows:

*- Includes a unit of the W Fort Lauderdale which was held for sale. 
   See note 11(g) in 2021 Audited Financial Statements

DISPOSALS
• Disposed of six (6) units from the South 
   Florida portfolio to transition into higher- 
   yielding properties in the Cayman Islands 
   and Jamaica.

PROPERTY UPGRADES
• Completed renovations and improvements    
   at the KPREIT BUILDING located at 
   Grenada Crescent, New Kingston. 

• Upgraded the old AC system at the KPREIT 
   BUILDING located at Grenada Crescent, 
   New Kingston to a new  Variable Refrigerant 
   Flow  (VRF) system. 

• Completed extensive renovation and 
   improvements at the East Ashenheim 
   property which includes 4 units occupied 
   by tenants in the manufacturing and 
   distribution sector. 

OTHER KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF 2021
• Saw a reduction in borrowing costs over the  
 period to average just below 4%.

• Developed a green policy to achieve Green  
 Certification by 2024.

• Added two new members to the board to 
 strengthen our corporate governance 
   structures.

• Continued our community engagement     
 initiatives working with schools and   
   community groups in the locations where
   we own properties. Including tablet and 
   sanitation item distribution along with 
   food packages to the indigent.

THE YEAR IN BRIEF

GUM TREE 5

232A Spanish Town Road

Polaris at Camp Creek

7 Dumfries Road

Cross Road Development 

KEY DEVELOPMENTS & Acquisitions 

A greenfield develop-
ment of a mixed-use 
industrial property in 

the Cayman Islands

An office and warehouse 
property located on 

approximately 2.7 acres 
along a major industrial 

area in Kingston, Jamaica.

Acquired a 38% stake through 
a  partnership agreement in a 
155-unit multi family property 

in Atlanta, Georgia, US.

A small office building to 
be developed in a multi-story 
office building in New 
Kingston, Jamaica.

A 1.5-acre property on 
Rousseau Road in the Cross 
Roads area that will be 
developed to house small bay 
warehouse units.

RATIO ANALYSIS

Net Operating Margin (NOI)%
EBITDA Margin (%)
Profit/Loss Before Income Tax Margin %
Rental Income % of Total Investment Property
Operating Expenses as % of Rental Income
Total Debt to Total Equity Total Debt to Total Equity
Total Debt to Total Assets
Total Debt to Investment Properties
Dividends Payout Ratio (% of FFO)
Dividends  Yield

48.35%

23.75%
  5.59%
51.65%
44.97%
30.10%
35.77%
65.24%
  1.16%

  56.97%

  64.45%
    7.14%
   43.03%
   52.84%
  34.17% 
  39.63%
  65.37%
    2.29%

 2020  2021

LOCATION                       2020        2021
The Loft II, Condos                 $945,087               -      
Opera Towers                   $337,592         $347,412         
The W. Fort Lauderdale Condos          $1,785,000     *$2,070,064              
591 Spanish Town Road Commercial Complex       $3,300,000      $3,200,000             
36-38 Red Hills Road Commercial Complex            $5,520,000      $5,596,770              
6 East Ashenheim Road Commercial Complex                  $4,820,472      $5,314,252              
52-60 Grenada Crescent Office Building          $5,403,093            $6,300,000              
7 Dumfries Road Office Building                -                      $1,246,816             
232A Spanish Town Road                                -          $1,524,909   
Cross Road Development Site                -              $525,663        
Tropic Centre One                          $3,142,000      $3,163,182              
Rosedale Warehouse                           $2,106,562      $2,217,000              
Harbour Centre                                         $10,770,614    $10,770,614    

Sub-Total                 $38,130,420    $42,276,682
OTHER PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
CGI Fund I                                                   -                      $1,206,504
Polaris at Camp Creek                                        -                      $2,244,659    
Gum Tree 5 Development                                               -                      $1,252,000

TOTAL                  $38,130,420    $46,979,845  

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D
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as at december 31, 2021

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D



KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT | 2021

4948

harbour CentRE TROPIC CENTRE ONE

Representing one of our largest acquisitions to date, in July 
2020 we completed the acquisition of Harbour Centre, a 30,639 
square feet multi-story office building in the Cayman Islands. 
The property is 100% leased to firms in the banking and funds 
administration, law, real estate investment, government and 
retail industries. 

This is a 10,172 square feet 
mixed-use building located 
in the West Bay Beach South 
area in the Cayman Islands. 
The building comprises offices, 
retail outlets and residences 
along the famous Seven Mile 
Beach corridor, an area that has 
seen significant infrastructure 
improvements, as well as new 
luxury resort and condominium 
developments over the last four 
years. The property was acquired 
in December 2016.

Rosedale Warehouse
In December 2019 we completed the acquisition of eight fully tenanted 
units totalling 8,166 square feet in a warehouse complex in the Cayman  
Islands. The property is leased to operators of development, construction, 
and fund administration businesses. 

The property is located along a corridor slated for continued
 infrastructure development which we believe will continue to 
improve the property’s value in the medium to long term.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D



The 56,897 square foot property 
is an office and warehouse 
complex on Spanish Town Road 
that was acquired in January 
2017. The property is leased 
to operators of manufacturing, 
distribution and logistics 
businesses that have operated 
in Jamaica for decades in the 
same location. The property is 
located along a corridor slated 
for continued infrastructure 
development.
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GUM TREE 5
In September 2021, we entered into an agreement to acquire three (3) of four (4) pre-construction units 
in a mixed-use industrial development in the Cayman Islands called Gum Tree 5. The units are slated for 
completion in December 2022 were acquired for a consideration of approximately US$3.13 million. 

36 - 38 Red Hills Road

591 Spanish Town Road

Acquired in December 2019, our flagship 
Red Hills Road property remains a key 

piece of our real estate portfolio. 
This property offers 49,871 square 

feet of office and warehouse 
complex on Red Hills Road 

in Jamaica and is home to 
eight longstanding tenants 
who form a diverse base of 
businesses and sizes. The 

building’s proximity to 
the Half Way Tree Road 
corridor in Kingston 

makes it one of the main 
drivers of the strong occupancy. This 

property also houses Kingston Properties 
Limited’s head office

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D
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6 East Ashenheim Road

52 - 60 Grenada Crescent

In September of 2020, the Group 
acquired an approximately 88,000 SF 
warehouse property on four (4) acres 
of land in Kingston’s Industrial belt. 
The property is currently undergoing 
extensive rehabilitation work and 
houses tenants in the manufacturing 
and distribution sectors. 

Located in the heart of New Kingston’s 
business district, this 31,741 square feet 
multistory office building has undergone 
significant upgrades since its acquisition 
in 2018 and is now fully leased exclusively 
to Government tenants.

7 DUMFRIES ROAD
Forming part of Kingston 
Properties Limited’s key 2021 
investments, the company 
acquired a small office building 
located on 20,000 square feet 
of land which is slated for 
development into a multi-story 
office building.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D
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232A Spanish 
Town Road

THE W FORT 
LAUDERDALE

OPERA TOWER, 
DOWNTOWN MIAMI

Cross Roads 
development 

Marking its second 
property along the Spanish 
Town Road Industrial Belt 
and as its final acquisition 
of 2021, the company 
closed on a 2.7-acre 
property consisting of 
approximately 23,000 
square feet of warehouse 
and office space. 

The property is what is considered 
a condo-tel comprising two 
buildings, a 517-room hotel and a 
171-unit condominium. The W Fort 
Lauderdale is a part of the Starwood 
Hotel Group and offers luxurious 
amenities to residents and guests. 
The four units we acquired in this 
condo-tel in 2015 have allowed 
us to benefit from both short-term 
and longer stay tenants and a more 
attractive rental rate than what 
obtains in our other properties. The 
property is located in Las Olas and 
is a stone’s throw from the beach 
attracting a pool of holidaymakers 
year-round due to the warm 
Florida climate.

Opera Tower is a 55-floor condominium high-rise building 
located in what is known as the Media and Entertainment 
district in Miami. The property is in close vicinity to the 
American Airlines Centre and the Miami Arts Museum as well 
as the MargaretPace Park. We own a 1,048 square foot two-
bedroom unit in the building, which we bought in April 2016.

This 1.5-acre property in Cross Roads, St Andrew was acquired in 
November 2021 and developed to house small-bay warehouse 
units, a highly sought after property in that area. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D
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POLARIS AT CAMP 
CREEK, GEORGIA

The property comprises of 155 
units with a mix of one, two and 
three bedrooms. It is approximately 
185,000 square feet of space. The 
acquisition was made in July 2021 
of which the Group owns a stake of 
approximately 38%.

OVERVIEW

Set out below is a brief overview of 
the economies in which the Group has 
properties, and which provides important 
context for its business operations. 
This information is derived from public 
sources and credible media reports, and 
reference is also made to the footnotes 
set out below.

US Economy
According to the Bureau of 
Economic Analysis, the US 

economy, measured by real gross domestic product (GDP), 
grew at an annual rate of 7.0 per cent in the fourth quarter of 
2021, following an increase of 2.3 per cent in the third quarter. 
The improvements over 2020 have largely been spurred 
by an upturn in exports as well as accelerations in inventory 
investments and increased consumer spending arising from 
various government stimulus packages since the onset of the 
pandemic.2 This trend is expected to be tempered in the near 
term but recover over the medium term, especially in light of 
the recent passing of a US$1.7 trillion infrastructure bill by the 
US House of Congress.3 

US inflation rose by 0.5% in December 2021 and 7.0% on an 
annual basis.4 Higher inflation has become a feature of the 
global economy in light of the containment measures adopted 
to curb the spread of the coronavirus and the resultant 
disruption to global supply chains and spikes in energy costs. 
The unemployment rate fell to 3.9% at the end of December 
2021, coming down from 6.7% in December 2020 and a 
peak of 14.8% in April 20205, suggesting that the job market 
consolidated its recovery as the economy further reopened. 
A steady decline in the number of daily coronavirus cases 
due to a higher percentage of the eligible population being 
fully vaccinated6 has allowed authorities to lift restrictions on 
businesses, but the supply of available workers has begun to 
lag the demand hence employers have found it difficult to 
bridge the resulting gap. 

With the decline in government assistance programmes in the 
form of forgivable loans to businesses, grants to state and local 
governments, and especially social benefits to households7, 
the numbers employed will likely rise as persons return to the 
workforce.

2 https://www.bea.gov/data/gdp/gross-domestic-product
3 2 https://www.cnbc.com/2021/11/05/house-passes-bipartisan-infrastructure-bill-sends-it-to-biden.html
4 https://www.bls.gov/news.release/cpi.nr0.htm
5 https://tradingeconomics.com/united-states/unemployment-rate
6 https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#vaccinations_vacc-total-admin-rate-total
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Jamaican Economy
The Jamaican economy 
experienced growth 
in the fourth quarter 

of 2021, with GDP expanding by 6.7% when 
compared to the similar quarter in 2020. This 
resulted from improvements in both the services 
and goods-producing sectors showing recovery 
versus the 2020 figure when the Government 
had implemented measures to curtail the spread 
of the novel coronavirus.8 The increase in GDP 
was most evident in the Hotels and Restaurants, 
Transport, Storage & Communication, Retail, 
Construction, Agriculture and Manufacturing 
sectors. By comparison, the Statistical Institute of 
Jamaica (STATIN) also reported that the economy 
is estimated to have declined by 8.3% during 
the fourth quarter of 2020. Looking forward, the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF) is projecting 
economic growth for the 2021/2022 fiscal year to 
be in the region of 8.25% and thereafter record 
3.5%.9 Tourism, which is Jamaica’s largest earner 
of foreign exchange and the second-largest 
employer in the country, has shown signs of 
recovery, earning US$1.31 billion.10 As a result, 
the rebound in the sector has been seen as 
the driving force behind Jamaica’s economic 
recovery. According to Tourism Minister Edmund 
Bartlett, “In 2021, Jamaica welcomed more 
than 1.5 million visitor arrivals to our shores. 
These visitors’ on-island spend contributed over 
US$2.095 billion into our country’s economy, 
positively impacting local businesses and tourism 
stakeholders.”11 

There was a 7% decline in the monthly average USD: JMD 
exchange rate for the twelve months ended December 
2021, moving from J$144.41: US$1.00 in December 2020 
to J$155.15: US$1.00 in December 2021.12 The decline is 
attributed to lower supplies of hard currency over the review 
period brought on by a reduction in tourist arrivals relative to 
the pre-pandemic period and increased demand stemming 
from a boom in online shopping. Inflation for the calendar 
year to date to December 2021 stood at 9.1% while the point-
to-point inflation rate to December 2021 stood at 7.3%.13 The 
increase was largely driven by the Food and Non-Alcoholic 
Beverages category because of higher prices on some 
agricultural produce. 

The unemployment rate stood at 6.2% as at January 2022 
according to STATIN, this represents 2.6 percentage points 
lower than the figure recorded twelve months prior.14 The 
decline in the unemployment rate occurred even with an 
increase in the size of the labour force by 1.9% year on year. 
The Construction and Real Estate and other Business Services, 
and Art, Entertainment, Recreation and Other Services groups 
recorded the largest increase in persons representing part of 
the employed labour force. Unemployment is expected to 
decline over time and with further easing of restrictions and 
other initiatives by the Government of Jamaica, employment 
figures could return to pre-pandemic levels in early 2022.15

Cayman Islands Economy
The latest available data indicate that the 
Cayman Islands economy contracted by an 
estimated 5.7% in 2020, as measured by 

GDP in real terms, this is compared to growth of 3.9% in 2019.16 
The average annual growth rate for the Cayman Islands for the 
five years before the pandemic was 3.5%. Indicators suggest 
that the contraction in economic activity for the year was 

broad-based with significant declines recorded 
in Hotels and Restaurants (-53.2%), Other 
Services (-24.6%), Administrative & Support 
service activities (-7.7%), and transport, storage, 
and communication (-42.3%). The Financing and 
Insurance services sector, which remains the 
largest contributor to GDP, increased marginally 
by 1.0% year on year, Additionally, increases were 
recorded for Professional, Scientific & Technical 
activities (7.0%), Health and Social Work (6.3%) 
and Public Administration & Defense (3.6%).17 
Economic activity for the year was negatively 
affected by the closure of Cayman’s borders 
which began in the latter half of March 2020 and 
led to general declines in stay-over and cruise 
passenger arrivals. This contraction was however 
offset by an increase in domestic business activity 
starting in the third quarter of 2020 due to the 
removal of some restrictions. Prospects appear 
brighter going forward as tourism recovers 
and the Government makes progress in the 
reopening of the economy. The Premier, Wayne 
Panton, announced in early July 2021 a five-
phase reopening plan that has seen Cayman’s 
borders being opened to stay-over tourists and 
other groups starting from September 2021.18 

This is possible given the high rate of vaccination 
of the most vulnerable and at-risk residents. 
Debt rating agency Moody’s has maintained 
Cayman’s AA3 rating citing Cayman’s ‘prudent 
government planning’ that has left them with the 
fiscal space to deal with the economic impact of 
the pandemic.19 Forecasts by the Cayman Islands 
Economics and Statistics Office (ESO) show 

7  https://www.bea.gov/news/2021/gross-domestic-product-3rd-quarter-2021-advance-estimate
8  https://statinja.gov.jm/PressReleases.aspx
9  https://jamaica-gleaner.com/article/news/20211117/imf-predicts-economic-growth-more-eight-cent-jamaica
10 https://caricom.org/jamaica-tourism-sector-rebounds-caricom-business/
11 foot note to be replaced with: https://jamaica.loopnews.com/content/jamaica-lowered-level-1-travel-advisory-cdc
12 https://boj.org.jm/market/foreign-exchange/average-exchange-rates/

13https://statinja.gov.jm/
14https://statinja.gov.jm/PressReleases.aspx
15https://statinja.gov.jm/PressReleases.aspx
16https://www.eso.ky/UserFiles/page_docums/files/uploads/cayman_islands_system_of_national_accoun-6.pdf
17https://www.eso.ky/UserFiles/page_docums/files/uploads/cayman_islands_system_of_national_accoun-6.pdf
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growth of 5.1% in 2021 and of 4.3% and 3.1% in subsequent 
years.20 

Inflation rose by 3.3% in 2021 compared to 1% in 2020, largely 
a function of higher oil prices combined with supply chain and 
logistics disruptions, as well as increased economic activities 
due to the relaxation of pandemic containment measures.21 
The Cayman Islands is one of the leading financial centres of 
the world, offering a tax-free environment with no property, 
income, corporation, or capital gains taxes. However, from 
the onset of the pandemic, many persons left the island, 
while some others stopped searching for jobs resulting in 
a 10.5% drop in the labour force and an overall increase in 
the unemployment rate to 5.2% in 2020 compared to 3.9% 
in 2019.22 Benchmark interest rates continued its downward 
trend seen since August 2019 and fell to 3.25% p.a. in March 
2020 where it remains currently.23
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Jamaican Real Estate Market
Despite the disruptions that the COVID-19 
pandemic has brought globally, Jamaica’s real 
estate market remains buoyant. For the fourth 
quarter of 2021, the Real Estate Renting and 
Other Business sector grew by 2.1%, while 
Construction improved year on year by 5.9%.24 
The growth in the Construction category saw 
improvement in all the areas measured such 

as building construction, civil engineering and building 
installations. Relatively low borrowing rates continue to keep 
demand high resulting in an active market. 

Cayman Islands Real Estate Market
According to the Economics and Statistics Office (ESO), 

the value of building permits in Grand Cayman in 2020 
rose year on year by 88.1% to CI$555.6 million, mainly 
due to several commercial projects. However, the 
value of planning approvals remained relatively flat 

year over year at CI$883.2 million.25 Emergency 
pension withdrawals and international buyers 
boosted the local real estate industry in 2020. 
According to real estate firm RE/MAX Cayman 

Islands, total sales volume in 2020 increased by 4.3% year on 
year to US$666.5 million, despite a 17.5% drop in the number 
of transactions, from 831 to 686. The average transaction 
value grew significantly last year over 2019, from US$769,289 
to US$971,546 representing a 26.3% increase year on year.26 
Despite Cayman’s tourism industry effectively shuttering, there 
has been international interest in the island’s real estate market 
spurred by government incentives such as the Global Citizens 
Concierge programme27 and the granting of residency rights 
through real estate investments.28   

South Florida Real Estate Market
Total home sales in Miami-Dade County registered a 35.5% 
year-over-year increase in 3Q 2021, from 7,351 to 9,962, just 
lower than the 11,553 total sales recorded in 2Q 2021. In 3Q 
2021, single-family home transactions rose 2.2% to 3,923, 
while existing condo sales increased 72%, from 3,512 to 
6,039.29  According to Jennifer Wollmann, the Chairman of the 
Miami Realtors Association, the increased availability of remote 
work and accelerated migration to South Florida coupled 

with relatively lower home prices compared to 
other markets spurred the demand. The lack of 
inventory at certain price points has also had 
an impact on sales, particularly for single-family 
homes.30  

For the third quarter ended September 30, 2021, 
existing condo median prices rose 26.9% year-
over-year, from $264,000 to $335,000.31 The 
median time to contract for existing condos as at 
3Q 2021 was forty (40) days, a 44.4% drop from 
seventy-two (72) days in 3Q 2020. The median 
time to sale for existing condos over the same 
review period decreased 26.7%, from 116 to 
85.32 

Coldwell Banker Richard Ellis (CBRE) estimates 
that the pace of hiring in the US will continue 
which will further bolster household formation. 
Persons who opted to stay with friends and 
family during the jobless period of 2020 and the 
heights of the pandemic are likely to return to 
the workforce and that should boost the demand 
for apartments. Multifamily properties in the 
affordable category are expected to continue 
to see low vacancy rates and rent growth going 
forward.33 

Atlanta Real Estate Market
According to the Atlanta Realtors Association, 
during 2021 average and median sales prices 
recorded improvements over comparable 2020 
figures. The median sales price in December 
2021 was $378,000, an increase of 21.9% when 
compared to December 2020, while the average 
sales price was $447,000, up 19.2% from the 
previous year. Atlanta area housing inventory 
totalled 6,852 units in December 2021, a 

18 https://www.caymancompass.com/2021/07/08/live-chamber-of-commerce-legislative-luncheon/
19 https://www.moodys.com/research/Moodys-affirms-the-Cayman-Islands-Aa3-ratings-maintains-stable-outlook-PR_443266
20 https://caymanresident.com/about/caymans-outlook
21 https://www.eso.ky/UserFiles/page_docums/files/uploads/the_cayman_islands_consumer_price_index_-33.pdf 
22 https://www.eso.ky/UserFiles/page_docums/files/uploads/the_cayman_islands_annual_economic_repor-5.pdf
23 https://www.eso.ky/UserFiles/page_docums/files/uploads/the_cayman_islands_annual_economic_repor-5.pdf
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REAL ESTATE 
sector MARKET
OVERVIEW 

decrease of 22.3% from December 2020 while new listings 
totalled 4,950, down 7.3% from December 2020.34  The multi-
family market in Atlanta according to commercial real estate 
firm, Marcus and Millichap, remains strong buoyed by growth 
in the city’s population of young adults between the ages of 
20 and 34 years old.35  Given the rise in median home prices in 
that market, this group has been priced out and will continue 
to rent. This has pushed vacancy rates below 4% marking the 
lowest rate since 2000 and augurs well for rent growth in this 
subclass due to limited inventory. 

SUMMARY AND 
SUBSEQUENT 
EVENTS

The highlight for 
the year 2021 was 

the acquisition 
of a warehouse 
complex in 
K i n g s t o n ’ s 

Industrial belt, a 
developmental 

property in the 
Cross Roads area, 

an office building to be developed in the New Kingston 
area, and the real estate partnership formed in increasing 
exposure in the Multi-family space in the US. The sale of 
some of our condo units in the US, cash reserves from the 
raising of approximately J$2.0 billion in 2019 combined 
with the prudent use of debt allowed for the purchase of 
these properties. Additionally, funds have been deployed for 
capital improvement projects at some of our properties and 
a portion set aside for future acquisitions. The transitioning 
taking place with our US portfolio will continue while we 
capitalize on the gains that have been made on 
some of the units in the portfolio and divert 
those proceeds to further build shareholder value 

SUMMARY
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The inherent nature of 
risk in commercial Real 
Estate investments makes 
it a critical factor in the 
operations of our business, as 
ultimately there is an impact on overall 
shareholder value.

The Board of Directors, therefore, remains 
focused on the various types of risks 
that may directly or indirectly affect the 

operations of the Group with varying levels of 
materiality. Diversification of property type and 
geography remains one of the strategies that the 
Group pursues to effectively manage risk. Our 
real estate investments and geographic diversity 
(also diversified by commercial and residential 
segments) comprise a diverse mix of tenants. 

Risks impact the performance of the Group and 
the Group’s shares. As part of our due diligence 
process in acquisitions, we focus on the local 
market, characteristics, the credit quality of the 
underlying tenant base as well as the capital 
structure of each transaction, the following risks 
must be considered. 

Economic Risks
Adverse economic conditions and dislocations in the 
credit markets could have a material effect on our results of 
operations, financial condition and ability to pay distributions 
to our shareholders. Our business may be affected by market 
and economic challenges experienced by the economy or real 
estate industry, including the impact of high unemployment 
and by a sudden downturn in international economic 
conditions. These conditions, or similar conditions existing in 
the future, may adversely affect our results of operations. 

These include, but are not limited to the following.
 

•  The financial condition of our tenants may be adversely 
affected, which may result in tenant defaults under 
leases due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational 
failures or for other reasons.

•  Our ability to borrow on terms and conditions 
    that we find acceptable, or at all, may be   
    limited.   

RISK EXPOSURES 
& RISK MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGIES

24 https://statinja.gov.jm/PressReleases.aspx
25 https://www.eso.ky/UserFiles/page_docums/files/uploads/the_cayman_islands_annual_economic_repor-6.pdf
26 https://www.caymancompass.com/2021/01/29/2020-property-market-stayed-hot-despite-lockdown/
27 https://www.visitcaymanislands.com/en-us/global-citizen-concierge
28 https://caymanresident.com/housing/real-estate/cayman-real-estate-overview
29 https://www.miamirealtors.com/2021/11/10/miami-real-estate-records-second-best-quarterly-sales-month-in-history-condo-transactions-up-72-year-over-year-in-3q-2021
30 https://www.miamirealtors.com/2021/11/10/miami-real-estate-records-second-best-quarterly-sales-month-in-history-condo-transactions-up-72-year-over-year-in-3q-2021/
31 https://www.miamirealtors.com/2021/11/10/miami-real-estate-records-second-best-quarterly-sales-month-in-history-condo-transactions-up-72-year-over-year-in-3q-2021/
32 https://www.miamirealtors.com/2021/11/10/miami-real-estate-records-second-best-quarterly-sales-month-in-history-condo-transactions-up-72-year-over-year-in-3q-2021/
33 https://www.multifamilyexecutive.com/property-management/apartment-trends/cbre-outlook-quicker-reboundexpected-for-multifamily-in-2021_o
34https://www.atlantarealtors.com/resources/atlanta-realtors-market-brief/detail/atlanta-realtors-market-brief-december-2021
35https://www.marcusmillichap.com/research/market-report/atlanta/atlanta-3q21-multifamily-market-report

in other properties. We remain optimistic that 
the measures employed by most Governments 
in jurisdictions in which we own properties will 
help towards a more swift economic recovery 
and continued buoyancy of the real estate 
market.

On January 3, 2022, the Company transferred 
100% of its shareholdings in Kingston Properties 
(St. Lucia) Limited to KPREIT (St. Lucia) Limited, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

On January 4, 2022, Kingston Properties 
(St. Lucia) Limited was redomiciled in the 
Cayman Islands by way of continuation, and 
its name changed on the said date to KPREIT 
(Cayman) Limited. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS. CONT’D

We continue to monitor global conditions, particularly fiscal 
and monetary policies of officials in jurisdictions in which 
we are invested. We anticipate elevated inflation levels 
and subsequent rate hikes globally, however, we believe 
this policy shift will be transitory in nature as supply chain 
challenges are abated and economies start to recover from 
containment measures such as lockdowns, curfews and travel 
restrictions. Economies such as the Cayman Islands that were 
experiencing robust economic growth before COVID-19 
should see a quicker return to their growth trajectory. As 
always, we thank our shareholders and other stakeholders for 
your continued support as we seek to meet and exceed our 
corporate objectives.
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This could reduce our ability to pursue    
acquisition and development opportunities, 
reducing our returns from our acquisition 
and development activities, and increasing 
our future interest expense.

•  Reduced values of our properties may limit 
    our ability to dispose of assets at attractive 

prices, obtain debt financing secured 
by our properties and may reduce the 
availability of unsecured loans.

Asset and Industry Risks 
The value and financial performance of our real 
estate assets, and consequently the value of our 
shares, are subject to the risk that if our properties 
do not generate sufficient revenues to meet our 
operating expenses (including debt service and 
capital expenditures), our cash flow and ability 
to pay distributions to our shareholders will 
be adversely affected. The following factors, 
among others, may adversely affect the income 
generated by our properties.

•  Downturns in the economic conditions of the 
markets in which we own properties, such as 
declines in GDP and employment levels;

•  Changes in interest rates and availability of   
    financing;

•  Competition from other office, retail and 
    residential buildings;

•  Real estate market conditions, such as 
oversupply or reduction in demand for office, 
retail or residential space in the markets in 
which we operate or intend to operate;

•   Vacancies, changes in market rental rates and the need 
 to periodically repair, renovate and re-let space;

•  Changes in space utilization by our tenants due to 
     technology, economic conditions and business culture;

•   Increased operating costs, including insurance expenses, 
 utilities, real estate taxes, state and local taxes and    
 heightened security costs;

•  Significant expenditures associated with each investment, 
 such as debt service payments, real estate taxes, insurance  
 and maintenance costs which are generally not reduced   
 when circumstances cause a reduction in revenues from  
 a property;

•   Civil disturbances, earthquakes and other natural disasters 
 or terrorist acts or acts of  war which may result in uninsured    
 or underinsured losses or the decreased desirability to    
 our tenants in impacted locations;

•  Declines in the financial condition of our tenants and our 
     ability to collect rents from our tenants; 

•   Decreases in the underlying value of our real estate.

Acquisition Risks
There are risks associated with property acquisitions. We 
have acquired in the past and intend to continue to pursue 
the acquisition of properties and portfolios of properties, 
including portfolios that could increase our size and result in 
alterations to our capital structure. Our acquisition activities 
and our successes are subject to the following risks.

•  Even if we enter into an acquisition agreement for a 
property, we may be unable to complete that acquisition 
after making a non-refundable deposit and incurring 
certain other acquisition-related costs.

•      We may be unable to obtain or assume 
        financing for acquisitions on favourable 
        terms, or at all.

•      Acquired properties may fail to perform 
     as expected.

•        The actual costs of repositioning, redeveloping
or maintaining acquired properties may be 
greater than estimated.

•     The acquisition agreement will likely contain 
conditions to closing, including satisfactory 
completion of due diligence investigations 
or other conditions that are not within our 
control, which may not be satisfied.

•      Acquired properties may be located in new 
markets, either within or outside Jamaica, 
where we may face risks associated with a 
lack of market knowledge or understanding 
of the local economy, lack of business 
relationships in the area and unfamiliarity 
with local governmental and permitting 
procedures.

•      We may acquire real estate through the 
acquisition of the ownership entity subjecting 
us to the risks of that entity.

•      We may be unable to quickly and efficiently 
integrate new acquisitions (particularly 
acquisitions of portfolios of properties) into 
our existing operations, and this could have 
an adverse effect on our results of operations 
and financial condition.

•      We may acquire properties subject to
        liabilities and without any recourse, or with 

only limited recourse, against the prior owners or other 
third parties with respect to unknown liabilities. As a result, 
if liability were asserted against us based upon ownership of 
those properties, we might have to pay substantial sums to 
settle or contest it, which could adversely affect our results 
of operations and cash flow. Unknown liabilities to acquire 
properties might include:

•  Liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed  environmental 
   contamination;

•  Claims by tenants, vendors or other  persons against 
    the former owners of  the properties; and

•  Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business.

• We may be unable to acquire a desired property 
because of competition from other well-capitalized 
real estate investors, including publicly traded 
and private REITs, institutional investment funds 
and other real estate investors; and even if we can 
acquire the desired property, competition from 
other real estate investors may significantly increase 
the purchase price.

Re-Letting and Tenant Risks
We derive most of our income from rent received from our 
tenants and we face potential difficulties or delays in renewing 
leases or re-leasing space. If a tenant experiences a downturn 
in its business or other types of financial distress, it may be 
unable to make timely rental payments. Also, when our 
tenants decide not to renew their leases or terminate early, 
we may not be able to re-let the space on a timely basis, or 
at all. Even if tenants decide to renew or lease new space, 
the terms of renewals or new leases, including the cost of 
required renovations or concessions to tenants, 
may be less favourable to us than current lease 
terms. As a result, our cash flow could decrease 

RISK EXPOSURES & RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES. CONT’D RISK EXPOSURES & RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES. CONT’D
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and our ability to make dividend payments to our 
shareholders could be adversely affected.

The bankruptcy or insolvency of a major tenant 
may adversely affect the income produced by 
our properties. A bankrupt tenant may reject and 
terminate its lease with us. In such a case, our 
claim against the bankrupt tenant for unpaid and 
future rent might be subject to a statutory cap that 
might be substantially less than the remaining 
rent actually owed under the lease, and, even so, 
our claim for unpaid rent would likely not be paid 
in full. This shortfall could adversely affect our 
cash flow and the results of operations.

Resale Risks
Possible difficulty selling our properties may limit 
our flexibility. Properties like the ones that we own 
may be difficult to sell. This may limit our ability 
to change our portfolio promptly in response 
to changes in economic or other conditions. In 
addition, applicable laws may limit our ability to 
sell properties and this may affect our ability to sell 
properties without adversely affecting returns to 
our shareholders. These restrictions reduce our 
ability to respond to changes in the performance 
of our investments and could adversely affect our 
financial condition and the results of operations. 

Contingent or Counterparty Risks 
The action or actions of property owners or 
tenants of adjoining properties may have an 
impact on the viability of our assets and limit 
our ability to earn, and ultimately, to make 
distributions to shareholders. These actions 
could lead to a decline in the value of the real 
estate, limiting our ability for re-sale or resulting 
in reduced market prices.

Currency Exchange Risks
Having changed our functional currency to United States dollars 
in 2019, we still retain some potential currency exchange risk 
from transactions or earnings in currencies other than the US 
dollar. If we hold investments or other assets in currencies 
other than the US dollar, we will be subject to currency risks 
from the potential fluctuations in exchange rates between the 
US dollar and those currencies.  A significant depreciation in 
the value of the currency of one or more countries where we 
have significant investments may materially affect our results 
of operations. We may attempt to mitigate any such effects 
by borrowing in the currency of the country in which we are 
investing. We cannot assure our shareholders, however, that 
our efforts will successfully neutralize all international currency 
risks.

Debt and Re-financing Risks
There are some typical risks associated with debt financing, 
such as mortgaging a property to secure payment of 
indebtedness and not being able to meet the debt service 
obligations. A lender may take enforcement steps that could 
adversely affect our cash flow and, consequently, the amount 
available for dividends to shareholders.

Leverage Risks
Our degree of leverage could affect our ability to obtain 
additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, 
acquisitions, development or other general corporate 
purposes. Our degree of leverage could also make us more 
vulnerable to a downturn in business or the economy generally. 

These could affect the market price of our shares.

Insurance Risks
Insurance costs and policy deductibles expose us to 
unpredictable expenses which may be material. The Group 
maintains general liability and property insurance policies with 
coverage considered prudent by the Group’s management. 

Management also monitors on an ongoing 
basis the level of coverage in place according 
to standards of prudence and to guard against 
significant exposure to liability and loss. The 
potential exists that insurance cover in place 
for the benefit of the Group may be inadequate 
and/or claims may not be paid, and in either 
such event the Group may suffer loss and/or be 
exposed to third party claims, affecting the results 
of the Group’s operations and profitability. 

Market Risks
Changes in market conditions could adversely 
affect the market price of our stock units. As 
with other publicly traded equity securities, the 
value of the Group’s ordinary shares depends on 
various market conditions that may change from 
time to time. Among the market conditions that 
may affect the value of our ordinary shares are 
the following.

•  The extent of investor interest in our 
    ordinary shares;

• The general reputation of “REIT”- like 
    entities and the attractiveness of our 
    ordinary shares in comparison to other  
    equity securities, including securities 
    issued by other real estate-based 
    companies;

• Our underlying asset value;

•  Investor confidence in the stock and bond 
    markets, generally;

•  National economic conditions;

• Changes in tax laws and government policies;

• Our financial performance;

• Given the low level of liquidity of the local stock market 
in part due to the low-level stock ownership penetration, 
trading in shares may occur less frequently than desired. 

Additionally, given that the principal owners of shares 
tend to be institutional investors, the level of trading 
activity may be diminished; and 

• General stock and bond market conditions.

The market value of our ordinary shares is based primarily 
upon the market’s perception of our growth potential, our 
current and potential future earnings, and cash dividends. 
Consequently, our ordinary shares may trade at prices that are 
greater or less than our net asset value per share of common 
stock. If our future earnings or cash dividends are less than 
expected, it is likely that the market price of our ordinary 
shares will decline.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC RISKS

The Covid-19 pandemic or any future 
pandemic may result in gathering limit 
restrictions and restrictions on movement, 
which may result in less demand for office 

spaces and/or limited foot traffic to spaces 
in the retail sector.  A prolonged pandemic may 

also have a negative impact on the global economy reducing 
aggregate demand and the need for specific goods and 
services offered by our tenants. This may lead to increased 
tenant delinquency and higher vacancy rates.

RISK EXPOSURES & RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES. CONT’D RISK EXPOSURES & RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES. CONT’D
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Risk Mitigation Strategies
The Group utilizes established best practices in
its risk management strategies and reviews 
various risk factors at both the Investment and 
Risk committees and the Board of directors
meetings. 

Consensus in the decision-making process 
ensures that undertakings are consistent with 
the Group’s risk appetite and that adequate 
measurement and mitigation strategies are being 
employed, including being adequately funded 
to absorb any adverse shifts.

Economic Risks
The Group uses various metrics to measure and 
monitor financial risks to its operations to ensure
it remains a going concern. These include debt 
service coverage, net operating margin, funds 
from operations growth, debt to EBITDA, Debt 
to Equity, and Equity to Asset ratios. Specific 
benchmarks are set based on a composite of 
selected global REITs and our performance 
is measured against this composite. Whereas 
adverse economic conditions and dislocations in 
the credit markets could have a material effect on 
our results of operations, due to a downturn in 
the economy, our strategy is to diversify across 
various jurisdictions to mitigate against any 
economic fallout in another jurisdiction.

As part of our strategy to manage risk with 
our tenants, we require corporate tenants to 
provide financial statements for the most recent 
three years, pay two months’ security deposit, 
and provide bank references and a history of 
past tenancies. Tenant accounts are constantly 

reviewed for early signs of difficulty and our tenant relations 
team remains in continuous communication with tenants to 
frequently do assessments of their operations.

The Group adopts various funding strategies including 
raising funds both from the debt and equity markets. We have 
established liquidity thresholds to ensure we are adequately 
funded to meet not only operating expenses and/or debt 
servicing but to take advantage of new opportunities as 
they come up. Further, we ensure that our credit rating with 
our financing partners remains intact to allow us to access 
funding when needed and at favourable rates. Additionally, 
with excellent working capital management, the Group can 
fund ongoing working capital and debt service needs while 
maintaining adequate financial resources to mitigate the risk 
of missing opportunities during difficult economic periods.

We have built longstanding relationships with our financing 
partners and have established a high level of creditworthiness 
with them to allow the Group to access funding even during 
periods of economic downturn. Additionally, we have 
established a diversified portfolio of different types of real 
estate assets, such as commercial, residential and industrial 
and also in various markets.

Asset and Industry Risks
A diversified portfolio of properties across different sub-
classes and in different jurisdictions allows the Group to 
remain resilient during bad economic periods. Further, the 
Group maintains an adequate pool of financing options with 
various institutions in different jurisdictions.

We conduct extensive data gathering and monitor the activities 
in the markets in terms of inventory levels, comparable market 
rents and level of new construction. The strategy is to remain 
competitive while maintaining full occupancy in our properties 
as the generation of cash flow is paramount.

Real estate market conditions are constantly 
monitored by the company and the relevant 
adjustments are made to the portfolio. New 
investments are pursued in accordance with the 
current market reading and outlook.

We continually assess tenant needs and explore 
the possibility of flexi-space.

The Group adopts a policy of applying an above-
inflation level increase in rents or common area
maintenance (CAM) charges to cover added 
expenses. We maintain tight budgetary 
controls to prevent overruns in operating costs 
and review our operating contracts annually. 
Through its “green” policy approach, KPREIT is 
also committed to reducing utility consumption 
at its properties and thereby mitigate on cost 
increases.

Rent and CAM charges are adjusted appropriately 
to provide adequate coverage for fixed costs. 
This type of risk is usually characterised by 
reduced activities resulting in savings in variable 
costs such as utilities and building repairs. These 
savings act as a mitigating factor.

The Group adopts a policy of insuring our 
properties at full replacement costs. Although
circumstances may change over time, property 
locations are selected carefully through a robust
investment analysis process and all properties 
have a minimum level of security and infrastructural
protection to minimize the impact of these risks.

The Group ensures that there is adequate security 
deposit coverage for each tenant, a three-month 
delinquency limit is established; penalties on late 

payments and/or negotiated settlements including deferrals 
or lease extensions are tools used to limit this risk.

To deal with decreases in the underlying value of our real 
estate, the Group has dynamic and diversified holdings in 
various markets where the movement in one market may be 
adequate to offset the movements in another.  Periodic property 
upgrades are done including preventative maintenance and 
renovations, which help to maintain the underlying value of 
our properties.

Acquisition Risks
Rigorous due diligence led by a Board select committee helps 
to reduce the number of instances where this risk materializes. 
The financial impact of this risk is also mitigated by negotiating 
the lowest possible non-refundable deposit in the first place.

All offers to purchase are contingent offers and provide an 
exit should conditions to close do not materialise. Further, 
financing arrangements are included as part of the due 
diligence process.

Alternative uses are always considered with new property 
acquisitions. Worst-case scenarios are considered in the 
investment analysis process and investments may not be 
accepted if this is outside the scope of KPREIT investment 
strategies. The performance of acquired properties is 
constantly monitored and the decision to dispose may also 
be considered for underperforming assets if it is the most 
economically beneficial option.

A premium return is established during the underwriting 
process to handle contingencies above the minimum target 
return.

The Group pursues the joint venture or partnership 
model for acquisitions in new markets. This 
ensures that the partners share equally in the risk 
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but are also persons familiar with local operations 
and have had an established track record. The 
cost of local experts is also factored in the ROI 
consideration and overall investment analysis 
where the company must incur such costs.

Effective acquisition planning which considers 
management, staffing and resources reduce the 
likelihood of the Group being unable to integrate 
new acquisitions into the existing portfolio.

Full title searches are performed to confirm 
ownership of investment properties and ascertain 
any liens on the property. Professional valuators, 
surveyors and engineers are used to assess 
investment properties before acquisition and 
checks are made with the relevant environmental 
bodies (such as NEPA in Jamaica) to ensure no 
environmental issues exist and covenants are 
adhered to.

The Group is being capitalized to effectively 
pursue investment opportunities that fall within 
its risk and return metrics. It may consider joint 
venture arrangements to achieve those targets. 
The Group establishes a limit of remaining 
within the target rate of return and if that is not 
achievable on a current or proforma basis, the 
deal is rejected.

Re-Letting and Tenant Risks
Constant assessment of tenants and their 
business is done to determine if they become 
a letting risk. Additionally, limits are set and 
monitored on tenant exposure per jurisdiction 
or industry within which they operate. Early 
termination clauses are present in all leases to 

ensure the landlord recovers sufficient rent to cover the 
re-letting period.

Resale Risks
The real estate market is assessed frequently and proactive 
decisions are taken to dispose of properties before adverse 
market events.

Contingent or Counterparty Risks
Where possible, legal recourse is taken to deal with any 
contingent or counterparty risks.

Currency Exchange Risks
In respect of currency exchange risks, the Group may attempt 
to mitigate any such effects by borrowing in the currency of 
the country in which we are investing. Additionally, periodic 
monitoring of the movement of the exchange rate is done 
to optimally time conversion actions. As much as possible, 
the Group arranges lease agreements in the USD functional 
currency, and where foreign currency is earned, it is utilized in 
settling liabilities of the same currency.

Debt and Re-financing Risks
The Group monitors debt covenants frequently and ensures 
that there is adequate Loan-to-Value (LTV) coverage. Further, 
aggressive principal reductions are employed to achieve 
lower LTVs by faster debt repayments.

Leverage Risks
The Group adopts a very conservative approach to debt ratios, 
with debt to asset of 50% or less and debt to equity below 75%.

Insurance Risks
The Group reviews its insurance coverage annually and 
ensures that there is adequate coverage on all our properties.

Market Risks
A key focus of management and the Board is to 
deliver earnings and dividends at or above
expectations which is demonstrated by the 
minimum ROI embedded in the asset acquisition 
strategy. This drives shareholder value and any 
misalignment in the share price will be corrected 
in the long term by the market forces acting on 
full information. The Group continues to build its 
corporate profile through significant promotional 
activities and community involvement which is 
key to retaining a strong market presence even 
during periods of bad conditions in the stock 
market. Additionally, management keeps abreast 
of the developments within the jurisdictions 
where it operates and strategically adjusts its 
business model to deliver the greatest value to 
its stakeholders.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC 
RISKS

The Group has developed 
a “future-proofing” strategy 
that involves periodic 

assessment of the performance 
of major sub-classes of real estate 

to detect trends and focus our acquisition 
strategy towards those sub-classes shown to be 
most resilient to containment measures typical 
of a pandemic.

OTHER RISK FACTORS

Regulatory Uncertainties

•   Changes in existing regulatory requirements or the 
introduction of new regulations in Jamaica or 
overseas may affect KPREIT’s operations and affect 
its profitability. 

•    Non-compliance with applicable laws and 
      regulations could lead to substantial monetary 

and or reputational damage and/or fines, public 
reprimands, increased regulatory scrutiny or other 
regulatory restrictions.

Share Price Volatility
The New Shares, if listed on the JSE as intended, may 
experience significant volatility in price, which may extend 
beyond the short term and which may be dependent on 
KPREIT’s performance, the annual dividend yield of KPREIT’s 
ordinary shares compared to other investment opportunities, 
investors’ confidence and other factors over which KPREIT 
has no control. 
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Issue of Additional Shares
The Directors of the Company may hereafter 
authorize the issue of additional ordinary shares 
in the Company. Such shares, once issued, may 
rank pari passu with the existing ordinary shares 
and may be listed on the JSE or any other stock 
exchange(s). Additional shares so issued could 
affect the market price of the New Ordinary 
Shares currently being offered.

AVAILABILITY OF KPREIT’S 
ORDINARY SHARES FOR 
PURCHASE

The market price of KPREIT’s ordinary shares 
could decline as a result of sales of a large 
number of shares in the market or the perception 
that such sales could occur, or as a result of any 
sale of shares by any of the Company’s existing 
shareholders from time to time.

Payment of Dividends
The payment of dividends on KPREIT’s shares 
will be primarily dependent on KPREIT’s future 
profitability and notwithstanding the target 
level of distributions under our existing policy, 

ultimately remains at the discretion of the Directors, who will 
be considering the Company’s best interests as a whole.

Macro-Economic Policies
Changes in fiscal and monetary policies by the Government 
of Jamaica or of any jurisdiction in which any member of the 
Group has investments may create opportunities as well as 
challenges for KPREIT. Fluctuations in market interest rates 
may influence the relative attractiveness of the dividend yield. 
The price of our ordinary shares may be adversely affected 
by the annual dividend yield relative to the yield on other 
available financial instruments.

New Accounting Rules or Standards
KPREIT may become subject to new accounting rules or 
standards that differ from those that are presently applicable. 
Such new accounting rules or standards could require 
changes in the way KPREIT reports its financial position, 
operating results or cash flows. Such changes could be applied 
retrospectively. The preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise judgment in applying 
relevant accounting policies; for example, the calculation of 
expected credit losses and significant increases in credit risk 
for financial assets under IFRS 9 or the fair value of financial 
instruments where observable market prices are not available. 
There is a risk that if the judgment exercised or the estimates or 
assumptions used subsequently turn out to be incorrect then 
this could result in an adverse impact on KPREIT’s financial 
results.

Competitive Environment
Changes in the macro and business environment may lead to 
intensified levels of competition in the jurisdictions in which 
KPREIT operates. New market entrants and or consolidation 
in the subsectors in which KPREIT operates may also lead 
to increased competitive pressures which could negatively 
impact market share and profitability.

Cross Border Operations/Risks 
Associated with International 
Conditions

KPREIT currently has investment assets and 
subsidiaries in several different countries, 
therefore it is exposed to adverse event risks 
which may impact its financial results and by
extension its share price. 

These events include:
• International political and economic     
   conditions;
• Changes in Government regulations in    
   various countries;
• Implementation of trade barriers;

• Implementation of adverse tax 
   consequences;
• Increased regulatory costs

Risk Mitigation Strategies
The Group utilizes established best practices in its risk 
management strategies and reviews various risk factors at 
both the Investment and Risk committees and the Board of 
directors meetings. Consensus in the decision-making process 
ensures that undertakings are consistent with the Group’s risk 
appetite and that adequate measurement and mitigation 
strategies are being employed, including being adequately 
funded to absorb any adverse shifts.
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STATEMENTs OF profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTs OF financial position
Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT | 2021

8786

separate STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

STATEMENTs OF Cash flows
Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs
Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)



KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT | 2021

101100

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)



KINGSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT | 2021

121120

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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notes to the financial STATEMENTs (continued)

Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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operating expenses
Kingston Properties Limited

Year Ended December 31, 2021
(Expressed in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Form of
PROXY

I/We
of
Being a member(s) of Kingston Properties Limited hereby appoint
or failing him or her 
of
as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of Kingston Properties Limited to be held at the Terra Nova All Suite 
Hotel, 17 Waterloo Road, Kingston 10 in the parish of St. Andrew in Jamaica on 28th  June, 2022 at 10:00 a.m for the following purposes:

RESOLUTIONS                                                                                                                                                                      FOR          AGAINST

1.  To Receive the Audited Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors. 
Resolution 1: “THAT the Audited Accounts for the Year Ended December 31, 2021 along with the reports of Directors and 
                            Auditors, circulated with notice convening the meeting, be and are hereby adopted.”  

2.   To Declare Final Dividend 
      The Company is asked to consider and if thought fit, pass the following Resolution:

Resolution 2: “THAT the interim dividend of US$0.000664 per share paid on March 11, 2021 and US$0.000664 per share 
                            paid on August 23, 2021, be and is hereby declared as final for the year ended December 31, 2021”.   

3.   To elect Directors
       a)  The Directors retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 107 of the Company’s Article of Incorporation are 
             Mr. Peter Reid and Mrs. Lisa Gomes who being eligible for re-election offer themselves for re-election. 
   
             The Company is asked to consider and if thought fit, pass the following Resolutions:

      
Resolution 3: “THAT Peter Reid retiring by rotation, be and is hereby re-elected.”

Resolution 4: “THAT Lisa Gomes retiring by rotation, be and is hereby re-elected.”

4.  To Appoint the Auditors and Fix their Remuneration
      The Company is asked to consider and if thought fit, pass the following Resolution:

Resolution 5: “THAT KPMG having signified their willingness to continue in office as Auditors, the Directors be and are hereby 
                           authorized to agree to their remuneration in respect of the period ending with the next Annual General Meeting.”

SPECIAL BUSINESS

5.  To Amend the Articles of Incorporation by Special Resolution
The Company is asked to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolutions:-

Resolution 6: “THAT pursuant to section 10 of the Companies Act, the Articles of Incorporation of the Company be altered 
                          by inserting after “director” in Article 1, the following definition:

“Electronic Means” shall include technology utilized by multipurpose devices, scanning devices, mobile 
devices, computers or other automated or photographic devices, as well as webcasting, teleconferencing, 
videoconferencing, live stream or broadcast or a combination of these.”

Resolution 7:

“THAT pursuant to section 10 of the Companies Act, the Articles of Incorporation of the Company be altered by inserting after 
Article 56, the following Article to be numbered 56A:

“56A.
(1) Subject to the approval of a simple majority of the Directors and in so far as permitted by law, the Company may in lieu 
      of holding a physical meeting, convene and hold a meeting of its members as a:

(a) hybrid meeting; or

(b) virtual meeting,

and shall be so identified in the notice convening such a meeting.

(2)  For the purpose of these Articles:
(a) a “hybrid meeting” means a meeting held at one or more physical venue, as well as virtually, using any technology that 
      gives members and Directors not physically in attendance at any of the venue a reasonable opportunity to attend and
      participate by Electronic Means; and

(b) a “virtual meeting” means a meeting held at no physical venue that gives members and Directors, the reasonable 
      opportunity to attend and participate by Electronic Means; and

(3)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Articles, the notice of a virtual meeting need not specify a place as a 
 physical location but shall include an electronic or virtual location or details sufficient to facilitate the attendance by 
 members at an electronic or virtual location and such a meeting shall be recorded as held in Jamaica. The notice of a 
 hybrid meeting shall specify a physical location as well as  an electronic or virtual location.

(4)   If the Company holds a hybrid meeting it shall have power to limit the number of persons in attendance at any physical 
             venue to such number as is reasonable in all the circumstances.

(5)  Where the Company holds a hybrid meeting or a virtual meeting, the use of Electronic Means for the purpose of enabling
            members to attend and participate in such meetings may be made subject only to such requirements and restrictions as 
            are:

(a) necessary to ensure the identification of the members of the Company, and the security of the electronic communication;

(b) necessary to provide reasonable evidence of the entitlement of any person, who is not a member, to attend such meeting; 
      and

(c) proportionate to achievement of these objectives.

(6)  The right of a member to attend a hybrid meeting or a virtual meeting may be exercised by the member’s proxy. 
  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these Articles, a proxy form may be returned to the Company by 
            Electronic Means, and this shall be deemed as deposited for the purpose of Article 69 and valid, provided that the 
            Company acknowledges receipt of same and is able to identify that the proxy has been duly stamped in accordance 
            with the applicable law.

(7)  A member who participates or votes electronically in a hybrid meeting or a virtual meeting, is deemed to be present in
 person at the general meeting and shall count to constitute a quorum and a member who casts a vote, electronically 
 shall be deemed to have voted in person. Any hybrid meeting or virtual meeting is deemed to have been convened and 
 held in Jamaica and shall be governed by the laws of Jamaica.
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(8) Any failure of technology or any failure or inability of a member to attend or remain in a meeting held in accordance 
      with these Articles as a result of a mistake or of events beyond the control of the Company shall not constitute a 
      defect in the calling of such a meeting and shall not invalidate any resolutions passed or proceedings taking place
      at that meeting provided that a quorum is present at all times.”

Dated this     day of            20

Signature                                    [J$100 Stamp]

Signature

Note:
A shareholder is entitled to vote by Proxy and a Proxy need not be a shareholder. You are encouraged to vote by Proxy and a Form of Proxy is enclosed for your 
convenience. Forms of Proxy must be lodged at the Company’s registered office at least forty-eight hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting. 
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